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Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
700 West Liberty Street

Louisville Kenfucky 40203-1911

502-540-6000

www.nsdlouhy.org

Letter of Transmittal

October 27, 2014

Customers, investors and MSD Board
Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (‘CAFR") of the Louisville and Jefferson County,
Kentucky, Metropolitan Sewer District ("MSD”) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 ("2014") is
subimitted herewith. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and
fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with MSD. To provide a reasonable
basis for making these representations, the management of MSD has established a
comprehensive internal control framework that is designed to both protect its assets from loss,
theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of MSD's
financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP?).
Because the cost of internal controls should not outwelgh their benefits, MSD’s comprehensive
framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute
assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. To the best of
MSD's knowledge and belief, the accompanying data are accurate in all material respects and
are reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial position and resuits of operations
of MSD. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to understand MSD's financlal activities
have been included. We encourage readers to review the narrative introduction, overview, and
analysis found in Management’s Discussion and Analysis (*MD&A”) along with the footnotes that
accompany the financlal statements,

Profile of MSD

MSD was.created in 1946 as a public body corporate and subdivision of the Commonwealth of
Kentucky ("the Commonwealth*). MSD has complete control, possession and supervision of the
sewer and drainage systems within the majority of Louisville Metro, which now comprises all of
Jefferson County, Kentucky. Chapter 76 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes authorizes MSD to
construct additions, betterments, and extensions within its service area and to recover the cost of
its services in accordance with rate schedules adopted by its Board.

MSD is considered a component unit of the Louisville-Jefferson County Metro government
(“Louisville Metro government”). The Louisville Metro Mayor appoints, with the approval of the
Louisville Metro Council, the members to MSD's governing Board. The Board, which has
statutory authority to enter into contracts and agreements for the management, reguiation and
financing of MSD, manages its business and activities. The Board has fuil statutory responsibility
for approving and revising MSD's budgets, for financing deficits and for disposition of surplus
funds. MSD has no special financial relationship with the Louisville Metro government; however,
effective July 1, 2006, MSD began providing free sewer and drainage services fo the Metro
government. The value of these services in 2014 was $6.3 million.
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Economic Condition and Qutlook

MSD's sanitary sewer and drainage service areas lie within Jefferson County, which, with a 2013

population of approximately 756,980, is Kentucky's largest and the center of the seven Kentucky

and Indiana counties which comprise the Louisville metropolitan area (“Greater Louisville"). The-
employment count (not seasonally adjusted) for the Louisville Metropolitan Statistical Area

("Louisville MSA") increased in June 2014 to 607,080; an increase of 6,590 from the June 2013

level of 600,490. The June 2014 unemployment rate for the Louisville MSA was 6.8% comparsd

to a rate in June 2013 of 8.4%, a national average rate of 8.3% and a state average rate of 7.4%

for this same time period. '

The Metro Mayor is Greg Fischer, who began his term as Mayor in January 2011. Mayor Fischer
replaced former Mayor Jerry E. Abramson, who served as Mayor of the city of Louisville for 13
years, from January 1986 through 1998 and as Mayor of Louisville Metro from January 2003
through 2010,

According to Greater Louisville Inc., The Metro Chamber of Commerce, economic indicators
show Louisville moving in a positive direction. Louisville's housing sector has been in various
stages of recovery since 2011 with particularly rapid growth over the past year. In 2014, housing
remains one of the stronger sectors in the Loulsville economy. Also, industrial real estate is
booming in the area. There is more than 3.8 million square feet of industrial space —a record
amount- currently under construction in the MSA

Through November 2013, the Louisville area has more than regained the number of jobs lost
during the recession. Manufacturing employment, representing about 12 percent of total nonfarm
employment in Louisville, has been a particularly strong growth driver. Generally on trend with the |
U.S., Louisville’s manufacturing employment began largely cutpacing U.S. growth over the past
year. In fact, manufacturing employment contributed one-third of the new jobs in Louisville over
the 12 months. This strong growth from manufacturing employment and the consistency from
Louisville's traditionally strong sectors such as health care and logistics have contributed to an
overall positive current outlook for our economy. The Louisville MSA is expected fo see above
average job growth in 2014, positioning the Louisville MSA to add nearly 20,000 jobs in 2014,
This job growth should also result in additional declines to the unemployment rate, reversing the
small increases of 2013.

Louisville’s economy has henefited In recent years from significant hires at the twe Ford plants,
GE Appliances, and UPS. In addition, the $2.6 billion Ohio River Bridges Project is expected to
have a positive impact on construction employment and generate significant economic benefits
over the next three-plus years. Another economic development effort is the Bluegrass Economic
Advancement Movement, or BEAM. Louisville Mayor Greg Fischer and Lexington Mayor Jim-
Gray launched it with the goal of attracting more advanced manufacturing jobs to the 22-county
region around and between Louisville and Lexington. in late November, Gray and Fischer
unveiled a BEAM strategic plan around the ideas of embracing innovation, increasing Kentucky
exports and improving education and workforce development.

During 2014, MSD continued to benefit from a diversified customer base. Fifty-two percent (52%)
of its service charge revenue came from residentlal customers with the remaining forty-eight
percent (48%) coming from commercial and industrial customers. During 2014, sewer accounts
increased by 840, or 0.6%, to 240,174,
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Major Initiatives:
Strategic Planning

MSD'’s last multiyear strategic plan was completed in the year 2000 and allowed MSD to focus its
resources toward improving the environment, providing customer service and empowering
employees, while also building and maintaining the existing wastewater, stormwater and flood
protection infrastructure. Starting in 2003, MSD directed its attention to compliance with the
Clean Water Act and began a series of communications with the U. S. Environmental Protection
Agency towards signing the initial Consent Decree in 2005 and subsequent amendments in 2009
and 2013. The activities of the Amended Consent Decree have been MSD's major strategic
focus during the past 5 years.

With almost. half the Consent Decree completed, MSD was positioned to once again pursue a
multiyear strategic business plan to accomplish a broader array of strategies including the
continuation of the Amended Consent Decree. During the spring of 2013, MSD began working
on a new strategic plan with employee groups across all divisions and members of the Board of
Directors. The 2014-2018 Strategic Business Plan was approved for implementation by the
Board on January 27, 2014. This plan provides MSD with a broader focus designed to move
towards a new Vision Statement — Achleving Clean, Safe Waterways for a Healthy and
Vibrant Community and incorporates MSD’s three statutory business requirements into a new
Mission Statement — Providing Exceptional Wastewater, Dralnage and Flood Protection
Services for Our Community. Inciuded in the plan are eight strategies incorporating numerous
initiatives and objectives that will drive MSD's activities over the next 5 years. The Board also
requested semiannual updates on progress towards meeting these strategic objectives.

MNew Organization Structure

During February of 2014, the senior management team announced a new organizational
structure aligned to meet both MSD's strategic objectives and operational requirements. The
primary changes invoive placing all engineering activities under the Chief Engineer and aligning
the operating areas into Treatment, Collections and Drainage and Fiood Protections Departments
under the Chief of Operations, This new alignment will facilitate MSD’s transition from 18
wastewater plants to 5 regional plants by 2016. It will also optimize operations, ensure
compliance with the Amended Consent Decree and allow for partnering opportunities with the
Louisville Water Company on the Mayor's One Water initiative. The new management structure
is shown on the organizational chart following this section, and a complete organizational chart
can be found on MSD's web site.

Comprehensive 20-Year Facilities Plan

The intent of the Comprehensive 20-Year Fadilities Plan is to identify and prioritize the future
capital program and rate structure of MSD over the next 20-year period. A public outreach and
external stakeholder involvement component is included to help shape the values-based risk
management approach, gain insight on community needs, and provide information to customers
on the relationship between the level of protection requested and the corresponding cost of
service that is acceptable. The Plan will aid MSD in defining the extent of utility-wide
infrastructure needs, the schedule for which they should be accomplished to achieve the desired
level of protection, and the associated cost of service for short and long-ferm budgeting purposes.
An engineering consulting firm has been hired to complete this plan over the next 18 months.
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Factors Affecting Financial Condition
Investment Policy and Performance

in November 2012, MSD’s Board approved a new Investment Policy to insure that all investment
activity regarding all MSD's funds be in conformance with KRS 66.480. The primary objectives
contained in MSD's Investment Policy, in priority order, are safaty, liquidity and yield.

s Safety - safely of principal is the foremost bbjective of the investment program.
Investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of
capital in the overali portfolio. '

e Liquidity — the investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all operating
requirements that may be reasonably anticipated. The portfolio shali be structured so
that securities mature concurrent with cash needs to meet anticipated demands (static
liquidity) and, to meet unanticipated cash-demands, the portfolio should consist largely of
securities with active secondary markets (dynamic liquidity).

Yield — the investment portfolio shall he designed with the objective of attaining a market
rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking info account the
investment risk constraints of safety and liquidity needs. The core of investments are
limited to relatively low risk securities in anticipation of earning a fair return relative to the
risk being assumed with securities generally being held to maturity.

MSD's Investment Policy identifies the types of investments permitted as those defined by KRS
66.480, The investment portfolio will he managed in accordance with the parameters specified
within the policy and monthly reports will be provided to the Board for their review to insure that
appropriate measures have been implemented to minimize investment risks.

Cash temporarily idle during the year was invested In Insured certificates of deposit, repurchase
agreements, commercial paper and obligations of the U.S. Treasury. MSD's investment policy is
to minimize credit and market risks, while maintaining a competitive yield on its portfolio,
Accordingly, deposits either.were insured by federal depository insurance or collateralized,

Gross investment income in 2014 was $20.2 milllon compared to gross earnings of $16.3 million
in 2013. :

Other Information
!nHependent Audit

MSD is required- by law and its Revenue Bond Resolution to undergo an annual audit by
independent certified public accountants. Crowe Horwath, LLP was selected by the MSD Board
to conduct the 2014 audit. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements of MSD for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 and
2013 are free of materia! misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation.
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The independent auditors concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for
rendering an unmodified opinion that MSD’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended June
30, 2014 and 2013 are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The auditors* opinion and report
on the hasic financial statements is included in the Financial Section of this report.

_ Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded
a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to MSD for its comprehensive
annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, This was the 24th consecutive
year that MSD has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Cerlificate of
Achievement, MSD must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR. The report
satisfied both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for one year only. MSD believes that its current CAFR
continues to meet the Certificate of- Achievement Program’s requirements and will submit the
current report to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another Certificate.

I wish to take this opportunity to thank the MSD Board and Executive Director Greg Heitzman, for
their continued support and fiscally responsible management of MSD's financial resources,

Respectfully submitted,

Maria B. Mullaney
Controller
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FINANCIAL MANAGERS:

Maria B. Mullaney, Controller

Rene’ Thomas, Purchasing Manager
Sharon Dawson, Revenue Manager

Patrick Meador, Budget Administrator
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

' Board of Directors
Loutsville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
Louisville, Kentucky

Report on the Financla) Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District, a component unit of the Louisville-Jefferson County Metro Government, as of
and for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparafion and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted In the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Compiroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlal statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
_ assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor conslders internal control relevant to the entity's
preparalion and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinien.,



- Opinion

In our opinion, the financial staternents referred fo above prasent faidy, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District, as of June 30, 2014
and 2013, and the changes in financial position and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Réquired Supplementary information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management's .
Discussion and Analysis on pages 11-17 be presented o supplement the basic financial statements.
Such Information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it {o be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
financial statements In an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context, We have applied
certain limited procedures fo the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the Information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financlal statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited proceduras do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District’s basic financial
statements. The Introductory and statistical sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis
and are not a required_part of the basic financial statements. The Introductory and statistical sections
have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financlal statements,
and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 27,
2014 on our consideration of Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District’s internal control
over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
confracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope
of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and
not to provide an opinion on internal contro! over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit perfermed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance,

Corowe, Braveii LLP

Crowe Horwath LLP

Louisville, Kentucky
October 27, 2014
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Louisville und Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
700 West Liberty Street

Louisville Kentucky 40203-1911

502-540-6000

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District (MSD), we offer
readers of MSD's financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financfal activities
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013. We encourage readers to consider the
information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our
letter of transmittal, which can be found on pages 1-5 of this report.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

o MSD's net position increased by $35.8 million (6.3%) as a result of this  year's
operations :

o Operating revenues increased by $6.6 million (3.1%) to $217 million.

o Operating expenses excluding depreciation decreased hy $1.6 million (2,2%)

° Non-operating revenues;

¢ Investment income and sale of assets increased by $4.0 million {24.4%)
+ The fair value of swaps decreased 2014 revenue by $1.2 million, compared to an
increase of $36.2 million in 2013

o Non-operating expenses:
o Interest and capital related expenses and reimbursements decreased by $5.1 million
(6.7%)

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This annual report consists of three parts: Infroductory Section, Financial Section, and Statistical
Section. The Financial Section includes notes that provide additional information relating to MSD's
financial condition. Readers are encouraged to read the notes to better understand the financial
statements.

REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o Statement of Net Position - This financial statement includes all of MSD's assets,
liabifitles and deferred outflow & inflow of resources. It also provides information about the
nature and amounts of investments in assets and the obligations to creditors. In addition, it
provides the basis for computing rate of return, evaluating the capital structure of MSD and
assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the organization.

o Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - This financial
statement identifies the revenues generated and expenses incurred during the fiscal year.
This statement helps the user to assess the profitability of MSD during the time period for
which the statement relates.

o Statement of Cash Flows - This financial statement provides information relating to
MSD's cash receipts and cash expenditures during the fiscal year, The statement reports
cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations,
investing, and financing activities and provides answers to such questtons as where did
cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance
during the reporting period.

11



Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2014 and 2013

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Statement of Net Position: MSD's net position increased by $35.8 million in FY 2014 {o $602.7
miifion.

e MSD's total assets and deferred outffow of resources increased by $112.4 ‘million in FY
2014, This overall increase can be altributed primarily to additions to plant, lines and other
facilities and bond proceeds o he used for capital construction. In FY 2013, {otal assets
and deferrad outflows decreased by $29.4 million from FY 2012. The decrease was

- primarily due to funds used to retire debt and a reduction In receivables.

o Total Habilities and deferred inflow of resources increased by $76.5 million In 2014. This
Increase was due to the $100 million issuance of 2013A Revenue Bonds. During FY 2013
there was a decrease of $87.8 million from FY 2012 due to an increase in the fair value of
swaps agreements of $36.3 million and retirement of $59.4 milfion of debt.

e Unrestricted net position increased $21.2 million during FY 2014 and has increased $48.0
million since FY 2012,

TABLE1
Condensed Stateinent of Net Position
(000's)
FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012

Assets
Unrestricted Current Assets $ 111,934 3 89,403 % - 66,465
Resircted Cument Assels 161,922 154,050 289,653
Noncurrent Assets 2,304,003 2,226,327 2,141,424

Tofal Assets 2,577,859 2,469,780 2,497,542

Deferred OQutflow of Resources 17,811 13,511 15,176
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 2,695,670 2,483,291 2,512,718
Current Liabilitles 13,683 12,693 ) 16,470
Current Liab, from Restricted Assels 288,240 285,489 ) 279,708
Noncurrent Liabilities 1,610,724 1,535,062 1,586,274

Totaf Liabilities 1,910,617 1,834,144 1,884,452

Deferred Inflow of Resources 82,293 82,233 119,680
Total Llabilities and Deferred Inflows 1,892,810 1,916,377 2,004,132
Net Investment In Capital Assels 368,346 365,225 313,575
Restdcted, net 148,451 136,939 157,002
Unrestricted 85,963 84,750 38,009

Total Net Position 602,760 566,914 508,686
Total Liab, Deferred Inflows & Net Position 5 2,695,670 § 2,483,291 3 2,612,718
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Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Results of Operations

Revenues:

Total Operating Revenues as of June 30, 2014 were $216.6 million compared to $210.0
million for the same perlod last year and $192.2 miflion in FY 2012. An increase of $6.5
million, or 3.1%, and $24.4 million, or 12,7%, respectively. This increase in operating
revenues is primarily driven by Board-approved rate increases of 5.8% in FY 2013 and
6.5% in FY 2012. :

Wastewater Service Charges totaled $165.6 million as of June 30, 2014, This represents
an increase of $5.8 million or 3.6% from a year ago. Wastewater Services charges for FY
2013 and FY 2012 were $159.8 million and $149.6 million respectively. The majority of
MSD's wastewater customers are billed based on the volume of water used. Because
substantially all of MSD’s customers are also customers of the Louisville Water Company,
this charge is billed and collected by the Louisville Water Company on behalf of MSD.,

Stormwater Service Charges were $48.5 million as of June 30, 2014, This represents an
increase of $3.0 million, or 6,7%, from the same period one year ago. Stormwater service *
charges for FY 2013 and FY 2012 were $45.4 million and $40.9 million respectively.

Other Operating Income was $4.8 million in FY 2014, which is $2.2 million less than FY
2013, FY 2013 and FY 2012 were $4.8 million and $1.8 million respectively.

Free Services: In FY 2007, MSD began offering free wastewater and-stormwater service
fo the Louisville Mefro Government. This free service amounted to $6.3 million in FY 2014,
$6.6 milion in FY 2013 and $5.2 million in FY 2012.

TABLE 2
Gondensed Statements of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
(000's)
FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012
Servica Charges $ 214,058  § 206,222 § 160,482
Other Operaling Income 2,576 4,823 1,756
Tofal Operating Revenues X 216,632 210,045 192,238
Investment Incoma 20,330 18,301 42,352
Total Revenues 238,982 226,346 234,590
Depreciallon & Amortizallon Expense 83,518 60,335 60,527
Other Operating Expenses 73,353 74,931 75,126
Nonoperaling Expenseas 71,128 75,172 75,341
Changs In Fair Value - Swaps 1,222 (36,286} 52,897
Total Expenses 209,219 175,162 263,891
Net Incomae {Loss) before Contributions 27,743 51,194 (29,301)
Conlributions 6,103 7,134 2,005
Ghange in Nat Position 35,846 58,328 {27,208)
Beginning Net Posilion 566,014 508,586 " 535,792
Ending Net Position - § 602,760  § 566,914 § 508,586

13




Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
Management's Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Expenses:

Table 3 shows the composition of gross service and adminisirative costs by major classification of
expense for the past three fiscal years. Gross service and administrative costs decreased by $1.2
million in FY 2014 from FY 2013 level and dscreased by $.2 millien in FY 2013 from FY 2012 lavel.
MSD's employee count, including vacant positions, increased from 648 in FY 2013 to 660 full-time
equivalent positions in FY 2014, Labor cost was 52% of gross service and administrative costs in
FY 2014 and 51% in both FY 2013 and FY 2012,

TABLE 3
Gross Service and Administrative Costs
(000's)
2014 % 2013 % 2012 %
Gross Service and Administrative Costs:
Labor % 55356 52% % 55028 5% $ 55010 51%
Utilities 14,663  14% 12,821 12% 14,555 13%

* Materials and supplies 8,151 8% 8,990 8% 8972 8%
Professional senices 1,932 2% 3,992 4% 2,416 2%

_ Maintenance and repairs 9,096 8% 10,866 10% 11,090 10%
Billing and collections 4,006 4% 4,504 5% 4308 4%-
Chemicals 3,306 3% 4,082 4% 3,804 4%
Fuel 1,837 2% 1,826 2% 1,820 2%
Biosolids disposal ’ 1,795 2% 1,708 2% 1,758 2%
All ofher 7,238 7% 4,369 4% 4,901 5%

Total ) . $ 107,369 100% % 108,536 100% $ 108,726 100%

Income from Operations:

MSD recorded a net operating income of $79.8 miflion in FY 2014 compared to $74.8 miltion in FY
2013, an increase of $5.0 milfion or 6.7%. Increases in revenues of $6.6 million from FY 2013
accounted for the majority of this change. Net cash provided by operafing activities increased $12.1
million from $128.0 million in FY 2013 to $140.0-millien in FY 2014, The increase from FY 2012 to
FY 2013 was $10.6 mlllion. :

Table 4
Income from Operations
. (000s)
$80,000 =
$70,000 ' /W
$60,000 ——
3 (fﬂwﬂ"'”—
$30,000
§201000 — " eene— e
$10,000
$0 .
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
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Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Capital Assets:

MSD's total gross capital assets (additions) increased by $51.3 million in FY 2014. Major additions
include:

$8.7 million completion of sewer line installations,
$9.3 million in wastewater treatment facilities,
$12.6 million in sewer, drain & pump facilities and
$19.1 million in capitalized interest expense.

Readers are encouraged to review the Comparative Schedules of Plant, Lines, and Other Facilities
that are contained in the Statistical Section of the CAFR and Note 5 for additional information
regarding changes to capital assets.

Depreciation expense was $62.2 miltion, or $3.2 million more than FY 2013, These expenses are
expected to increase in fufure years as MSD adds additional capital assets to its wastewater and
stormwater systems.

Shortterm and Long-term Debt:
" Significant debt transactions included the following:

e  On November 6, 2013, MSD issued $100,000 of Sewer and Drainage System Revenue
Bonds, Saries 2013C. Proceads of the 2013C honds, net of issuance cost were used to
pay the cost of improvements to MSD's sewer and drainage system.

& On November 6, 2013 MSD issued $228,340 of Sewer and Drainage System Subordinated
Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2013A Notes with an interest rate of 2.00%. The proceeds
of the notes were used to refinance the 2012A Notes. The 2013A Notes mature on
November 26, 2014,

Net interest expense totaled $71.1 million in FY 2014, a decrease of $5.0 million from $74.6 million
in FY 2013.

Additional information on MSD long-term debt can be found in Note 7 on pages 34-39 of this report.

Debt Service Ratio:

Although net operating income is the most significant component of determining MSD’s debt
service coverage ratio, other sources, including investment income and current period payments of
property owner assessments also are included in “available revenues” and “net revenues” for
purposes of demonstrating MSD’s compilance with debt service ratio tests of the 1993 Sewer and
Drainage System Revenue Bond Resolution (the Resolution). MSD's debt service coverage,
calculated on the foregoing basis, was 184% in 2014 and 163% in 2013. Key aspects include:

o The 1993 Resoclution.and its supplements require MSD to provide "available revenues,”
sufficient to pay 110% of each year’s "aggregate net debt service” on Revenue Bonds and
100% of “operating expenses.” “Available revenues,” as used only for purposes of the
Resolution, means all revenues and other amounts received by MSD and pledged as
security for payment of bonds issued pursuant to the Resolution, but exclude any interest
income which is capitalized in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
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Louisville and Jefierson County Metropolitan Sewer District
Management's Discussion and Analysis
" June 30, 2014 and 2013

o “Operating expenses’ include all reasonable, ordinary, usual or necessary current
expenses of maintenance, repair and operation determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and the enterprise basis of accounting. "Operating
expenses” do not include reserves for extraordinary maintenance and repair, or
administrative and engineering expenses of MSD which are necessary or incidental to
capital improvements for which debt has been issued and which may be paid from
proceeds of such debt.

o "Aggregate net debt service” is aggregate debt service on all bonds issued pursuant to the

Resolution, excluding (i) interest expense which, in accordance with generally accepted

- accounting principles, is capitalized and which may be paid from the proceeds of debt and

(ii) other amounts, if any, available or expected to be available in the ordinary course of
business for payment of debt service,

Table 5
Debt Service Coverage
200%
175%
150%
125%
100% 2 T e =
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

The formula authorized by the Loulsville Metro Government to calculate allowable rate increases
does not allow for the inclusion of depreciation expense, The applicable rate ordinances allow MSD
to increase rates to maintain the 100% revenue coverage of service and administrative costs and
110% coverage of aggregate net principal and interest requirements on Revenue Bonds that MSD
covenants in the Revenue Bond Resolution.

Other Significant Matters:

In April 2009, MSD. agreed to enter into an Amended Consent Decree with the Commonwealith of
Kentucky's Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet ("KEPPC") and the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency ("EPA”). The agreement calls for MSD to design and implement projects within
specified deadlines that will eliminate sewer overflows in its service area. The cost of the projects
is estimated to be $850 million over the next two decades. MSD has submitted plans to finance
the projects through additional bonds and future rate increases. In a letter dated June 8, 2014,
MSD requested approval from the KEPPC and the EPA for the 10AP 2012 Modifications, dated
. May 2014. The IOAP 2012 Modifications represents a revision to 28 separate projects sef forth in

the original I0AP, dated September 30, 2009. The I0AP Modifications were approved and will
supersede and replace the 2009 IOAP. To date, MSD has complied with all submittals and reports
requirements contained in the Amended Consent Decree (see Note 13 to the financial statements.)
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June 30, 2014 and 2013

In December 2011, Kentucky's Auditor of Public Accounts (APA} issued the findings of a
management. audit of MSD containing administrative recommendations, including updating
management policies, improving Board oversight and strengthening internal contrels. The audit
contained no findings regarding MSD's financial statements, nor were there any findings regarding
illegal or unethical practices by MSD's Board or staff. A year later on December 16, 2012, MSD
presented a final report on the status of MSD's initiatives related to the Examination, The report
was accepted by the APA, closing this matter. The MSD Executive Director advised that the
initiatives have strengthened the utility.

In January 2012, Mayor Greg Fischer formed The Louisville Utllity and Public Works Advisory
Group (Advisory Group) to examine the operations of MSD, LWC and Louisville Metro Department
of Public Works and Assets {DWP). The Advisory Group was tasked to determine whether
synergies existed between the entities that would allow for improved service or reduced costs. The
evaluation was intended to consider an array of potential business scenarios ranging from current
state where the entities essentially operate separately to a full consolidation. The Advisory Group
found that there were potential cost savings from pursuing Inter-local Agreements (ILA} to a full
consolidation of the two agencies. However, the findings had not included consideration of
consolidation structures allowable under current law based on the statutory governance structure of
each entity. MSD is a not-for-profit political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky and
governed under state statutes, while LWC is a private for-profit company of which Metro Louisville
owns 100% of the stock.

In April 2013, the Boards of MSD and LWC signed a Letter of Intent to pursue a thorough due
diligence evaluation of various conselidation structures. This effort was in response to the Advisory
Group and the Mayor's recommendation that a complete legal, financial and environmental
analysis be undertaken to determine the full risk and opportunity of a potential consolidation. As a
result, both MSD and LWC formed a due diligence team consisting of internal senior management
from both entities, with the assistance of outside experts when needed.

The due diligence analysis recommended pursuing a Comprehensive LA approach and
implementation began in mid-February, 2014 after the Mayor and both Boards approved the
recommendation. Onewaler is the initiative outlined in the Comprehensive ILA which was
approved by the Kentucky Attorney General on April 2014. The administration of the various
service agreements will be the key to successfully providing consolidated services to both LWC
and MSD. The goal of the Comprehensive ILA is to creafe coordinated teams of employees from
hoth companies with the capability of delivering superior customer service at lower costs than the
existing two corporate entities combined.

The implementation plan will consist of two phases. The first phase will entail the sharing of
services In five functional groups plus one specialty area of focus. The five functional groups to be
addressed in this phase include Procurement, Fleet, Human Resources, Information Technology,
and Customer Service and the specialty area will be focused on energy savings. It is aniicipated
that phase 1l will begin in the fourth quarter of 2015. This phase will include the consolidation of
additional back office functions and may also Include cperational areas.

Requests for Additional information

This report is intended to provide readers with a general overview of MSD’s finances and to provide
information regarding the receipts and uses of funds. I you need clarification regarding a
statement(s) made in the report or need additional information, please contact the Louisville and
Jefferson County Metropolfitan Sewer District, 700 West Liberty Street, Louisville Kentucky 40203.
You can also submit a request for additional information via MSD's website. www.msdlouky.org
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON GOUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2014 and 2013
{Pollars in thousands)
014 013
Current Assefs:

Unreslricted ¢ash and cash equivalents s 84,780 5 66,376

Unrestricted hvestments 100 00

Raslricied cash and cash equivalents 39,507 62,249

Reslricied Invesiments 121,218 90,574

Accounis recelvable, less aliowante for

doubtful accounts of $1,029 (2014}, $1,080 (2013} 21,808 18,465

Inventories 3,808 3,679

Accrued nterest recalvable 1,199 1,228

Prepald expensas end other cuirent assals 1,437 a84

Total current assais 273,856 243,453
Noncurrent Assels:

Long-term assessment recelvables 16,358 17,549

Unamortkzad bend closing cosfs 17,143 18,713

Plant, ines and other facMles, net 2,270,502 2,180,065

Total noncumrent assels 2,304,003 2,226,327
Total Assels $ 2577858 $ 2,469,780
Deferred Outflow of Resources:

Unamortized loss on refunding 17811 13,511
Total Assels and Deferred Quiflovs of Resources $ 2,595,870 § 2483291
Current Liabilities:

Cusrent Babiftles (payab'a from unresticted assels):

Accounts payable and accrued expenses § 13,653 § 12,683

Current Fabiltles (payabla from reslricled asssis):

Accounts payabla and accrued expenses,
inchtdes conlractor relalnage of $8,163 (2014}, $5,444 (2013) 14,712 16,168
Accruad interest payable 12,834 12,458
Refundable deposits 1,568 1,137
Subordinated Debt 228,601 223,691
Current maluriies of bonds payahle 28,525 27,035
Total current Bablitles 299,893 298,182

Hon-current Liabllitles:

Bonds payabla . 1,549,700 1,478,225

Unamortized debt premium / discount 60,263 56,764

Other long term Babliies 761 973

Total non-current llabiitles 1,610,724 1,636,952

Total Llabliities $ 1910617 5 1,934,144
Deferred Inflow of Resources:

" Interest rate swaps 73,840 72,418

Olher deferred nfflows 8,653 9,815

Tolal deferred inflow of resources 82,293 82,233

Total Llabllittes and Dsferred Inilow of Resourcas $ 1992910 $ 1,818,377
Net Positlon:

Net Invesiment I capfal assels 5 368,346 $ 365,225

Restecled for payment of bond principal and Interest 148,451 138,939

Unrestricted E 85,962 64,750

Total naf position 602,760 568,014

Total Liabiiitles, Deferred Inflov/ of Resources and Net Position $  2,595870 $ 2483281
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
COMFARATIVE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

2014 2013
Operating Revenues
Service charges, net of free services of $6,300 and $6,600 $ . 214,056 $ 205222
Other operating income 2,576 4,823
Total operating revenuss 216,632 210,045
Operating Exhenses
Service and administrative costs 73,353 74,931
Depreciation and amortization 63,516 60,335
Total operating expenses 136,869 135,266
Income from Operations 79,763 74,779
Non-operating Revenue (Expenses)
Gain / loss on disposal of assets ' - 45
Investment income : 10,234 5,315
Build America Bond refund 10,096 10,986-
Interest expense - bonds (80,613) {92,616)
Interest expanse - swaps . {9,733) ) {10,200)
Interest expense - other {4,629) {4,829)
Amortization of debt discount/ premium 7,296 6,735
Amortization of loss on refunding {2,552) (1,665)
Capitalized interast: 18,103 26,358
Change in fair value - swaps . {1,222) 36,286
Total non-operating revenus (expenses) - net (52,020) (23,585)
Income {loss) before Gontributions 27,743 51,194
Contributions: 8,103 7,134
Change in net position 35,846 58,328
Net position, beginning of year 566,914 508,586
Net position, end of year . -$ 602,760 $ 566,914
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

20

2014 2013
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from customers $ 213,215 $ 207,905
Cash pald to suppliers (34,446) (42,003)
Cash pald to employees (38,729) (37,923)
Net cash provided by operating activities 140,040 127,979
Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of revenue honds 100,000 115,790
Proceeds from subordinated debt 226,340 228,735
Build America Bond refund 10,006 10,986
Assessments receivable 1,695 1,833
Interest income - assessments 8687 731
Principal pald on revenue bonds (27,035) {173,040)
Interest pald on revenue bonds (91,719) {98,944)
Subordinated debt principat payments (226,430) (226,384)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (113,859) (105,915)
. Retainage payable 725 (95)
Acquisition of non-operating property {211) (223)
Net cash, provided by / (used in), capital and related
financing activities (119,711) (246,526}
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Restricted investments {30,642) 4,064
[ncome on investments 15,897 14,130
Interest expense - swap agreements (9,733) {10,200)
Unamortized premium on forward delivery agreement (189) (189)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (24,667) 7,805
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (4,338) (110,742)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 128,625 239,367
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 124,287 $ 128,625



LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(Dollars in thousands)}

2014 2013

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash provided by Operating Activities:
Income from operations $ 79,763 $ 74,779
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss} from operations to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 63,516 60,335
Capital expense overfunder applfed . . - (910)
Accounts receivahle (3,848} (2,265)
Inventories (229) (95)
Prepaid expense (553) 214)
Accounts payahble 1,076 (4,082)
Customer deposits 431 125
Accrued liabilities (116) 306
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 140,040 3 127,979

Non-cash capital financing and investing activities:
Contribution of plant, lines and other faciliffes

by developers and properly owners $ 8,103 3 7,134
Increase in accounts payable incurred for construction | $ 2,181) 3 861
Change in fair value of investmentis $ (3,201) 3 2,708
Decrease in interest rate swap deferred revenus 3 972 $ 972
Change in fair value - swap agreements 3 g;l ,222) 3 36,286
Advance refunding ‘of honds % - 3 119,515 °
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
{Dollars In thousands) '

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District {MSD") are
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as
applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board {("GASB") is the accepted
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. MSD
follows GASB Pronouncements as codified under GASB 62, including electing to report as a reguiated
operation. MSD uses proprietary fund accounting (enterprise fund). Due to the election as a regulated
operation under GASB 62, to meet industry accounting standards and follow transactional intent, MSD
uses, as applicable, ASC 980, Regulated Accounting.

Beginning July 1, 2012, MSD adopted or early adopted GASB:

Statement No. 60, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements”
Statement No. 61, “The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus—an amendment of GASB
Statements No. 14 and No. 34.” :

Statement No. 63, "Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Nef Position” :

Staternent No. 85, “Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities.”

Statement No. 66, "Technical Corrections”

MSD has adopted or is evaluating the following GASBs during the current year:

o

GASB Statement No. 67, “Financial Reporting for Pension Plans”, is effective for periods
beginning after June 15, 2013 and GASB Statement No. 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Pensions”, and GASB Statement No. 71, “"Penslon Transition for Contributions Made
Subsequent to the Measurement Date, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68", are effective
for periods beginning after June 15, 2014,

With the implementation of GASB 68 and GASB 71 in the year ending June 30, 2015, MSD will
be required to report a net pension liability on the Statement of Net Position as a retroactive prior
period adjustment for the beginning net pension liability. Any annual changes in the net pension
liability will be recorded in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.

GASB Statement No. 69, “Government Combinations and Disposals of Government Operations”
is effective for the year ending June 30, 2015. MSD has not yet adopted this standard and is
evaluating the impact they may have on its financial statements.

MSD has determined that GASB Statement No. 70, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Nonexchange Financial Guarantees’, effective for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, had no
effect on its financial statements.

The significant MSD accounting policies are described hereinafter.
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Continued)

A. Reporting Entity

MSD is a public body corporate, and political subdivision of the Commonweaith of Kentucky. MSD was
created in 1946 pursuant to Chapter 76 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, in the interest of the public
health and for the purpose of providing adequate sewer and drainage facilities in the urbanized area of
the Louisville Metropolitan Area. Pursuant to Chapter 76, MSD is governed by a Board which consists of
eight members who are appointed by the Mayor of the Louisville Metro government, subject to approval
of the Louisville Metro Council. Not more than five Board members may be of the same political party.
However, there is not a continuing supervisory relationship exercised by the Louisville Metro government
over MSD with respect to MSD's statutory public functions.

Chapter 76 authorizes MSD to provide sewer and drainage faciliies and services. MSD is further
authorized by the statute to establish and collect service charges and to budget there from for operations
and maintenance, capital outlays and debt service on obligations it is authorized by the statute to incur.
No special financing refationship exists between the Louisville Metro government and MSD, nor is the
Louisville Metro government empowered by law or custom to approve MSD operating or capital budgets;
nor are they responsibfe for financing deficits or disposing of surplus funds.

MSD has complete control, possession and supervision of the sewer and drainage system in large
portions of Jefferson County, and has statutory authority to construct additions, betterments and
extensions within its service area. Additionally, MSD has statutory responsibility for approval of the
design and proper construction of sewer and drainage facilities within the County's houndaries. There are
citles within the County that, by statute, have the optlon of using MSD sewer services on a contractual
basis. Third and fourth class cities also have the option of obtaining drainage services from MSD. MSD's
enterprise business activities are managed by its Board, which has statutory authority to elect officers,
enact bylaws and enter into agreements and contracts for the management and regulation of MSD's
affairs.

MSD's revenue is derived from sewer and drainage service charges which are collected from residential,
commercial and industrial customers. MSD controls the collection of all revenue, disbursement of
payables and title to all sewer and drainage assets. Sewer service charges are distributed among
customer classes on the basis of actual costs incurred to collect and freat wastewater. Drainage service
charges are distributed among customer classes on the basis of actual costs of drainage services per
equivalent unit of impervious surface. '

Changes in MSD's service charges are implemented by MSD's Board, but no change In the service
charge schedule is final within the Louisville Metro area until approval by the Louisville Metro Council.
However, the statute provides that such approval may not be arbitrarily withheld and that the schedule
shall be sufficient to provide revenues for the operation and maintenance of the system and for deht
service. By ordinance, the Louisville Metro Government has provided that MSD's Board may amend its
service charge schedule to maintain a debt service ratio of 1.10 for MSD's sewer and drainage revenue
bonds, and that such Amendments will be effective within the Metropolitan area when adopted by MSD's
Board, so long as the amended rates do not generate additional revenue from service charges in excess
of 7% during the twelve menths succeeding the peried in which the deficiency was identified.
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dolfars in thousands)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continlied)

Chapter 76 permits MSD to finance sewer and drainage system construction, acquisition and other capital
improvements through the issuance of its revenue honds and with the proceeds of governmental grants,
property owner contributions in aid of construction and bonds and loans for which pledge of repayment is
subordinated to the pledge of revenues given by MSD for the security of its revenue bond holders. MSD
indebtedness does not constitute indebtedness of the Louisville Metro government or the Commonwealth,
but the Louisville Metro government must authorize by ordinance the Issuance by MSD of revenue honds
to finance projects within the Metropolitan area.

B. Basis of Accounting

The sewer and drainage system owned and operated by MSD is accounted for using a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with
the operation of the system are included on the statement of net position. Total net position is segregated
into net investment in capital assets, restricted for payment of bond principal and interest and
unrestricted. Operating statements present Increases (e.g., revenues} and decreases (e.g., expenses) in
net position. MSD utilizes the accrual basis of accounting wherein revenues are recorded when earned
and expenses are recorded at the time the liability is Incurred.

C. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, MSD includes repurchase agreements and other
investments with an original maturity of three menths or less in cash and cash equivalents.

D. Restricted and Unrestricted Funds

Restricted funds are reserved for the purpose of bond debt service, funding of capital construction, cost of
issuance, and debt service reserves. Unrestricted funds, generated from service fees and other
operating income, are used to pay for operating expenses. When an expense or outlay is incurred for
whieh both restricted and unrestricted net position is available, it is MSD’s practice is to use revenue from
operations to finance construction, then to reimhurse from net position restricted for construction as it is
needed. :

E. Investment Securitics

Investments are stated at fair value. Investment income consists of interest income and the change in fair
value of investments. investment income is reduced by estimated federal arbitrage liability.
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

F. Operating/Non-Operating Revenues, Expenses & Receivables

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of MSD.
These revenues are wastewater and stormwater service charges. The Louisville Water Gompany Is
responsible for bifling and collection of these charges on behalf of MSD on a monthly basis. Operating
expenses are expenses incurred through the activities of operating and maintaining MSD facilities.

Non-operating revenues and expenses are comprised of investment and financing earnings and costs,
changes in the fair vaiue of derivatives, as well as contributions from outside sources. :

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.
Balances are considered past due 30 days from the invoice date. Management provides an allowance for
probable uncollectible amounts based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts.
Balances that are still cutstanding after management has used reascenable collection efforts are written off
through a charge to the allowance and a credit to accounts receivable,

Assessment receivables represent amounts billed to residents tor have sewer lines installed in their
neighborhood. Assessment receivables are considered past due once the balance is 90 days in-arrears.
Management considers all amounts collectible on the basis that liens are placed on properties at the time
of assessment.

G. Inventories
inventories are stated at the lower of cost (principally weighted average cost) or market. They consist of

supplies and parts used in the operation of MSD's treatment plants and for the maintenance of sewers,
fleet vehicles and other related equipment.

H. Contributed Capital and Construction Grants

Construction and acquisition of sewer and drainage plant, lines and other facilities are financed in part by
governmental grants and contributions in aid of construction from property owners and developers,
Govermnmental grants in aid of construction represent the estimated portion of construction costs incurred
for which grants are expected to be paid to MSD by the governmental grantor. These amounts are
recorded as a receivable and revenues from confributions at the time the related expenditures are
incurred. The revenues from contributions are part of the change in net position.

I. Piant, Lines and Other Facilities

Plant, lines and other facilities are recorded at historical cost or, if confributed, at fair value as determined
by engineering estimates on the date the contribution is received.  Capital assets are defined by MSD
as assefs with an initial, individual cost of more than $20 or renewal and replacement cost of a
component of existing assets with a cost of more than $20, which extends the life of an asset beyond its
original useful life. 1t is MSD's policy to depreciate the costs of these assets over their estimated useful
lives on a sfraight line basis.
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
* NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dolfars in thousands)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Continued) |

Estimated useful lives on depreciable assets are as follows:

Buildings and other structures 30 - 50 years
Land improvements 10 - 30 years
Miscellaneous machinery 10 - 20 years
Vehicles _ 6 - 12 years
Equipment, heavy 15 - 30 years
Equipment, light 5-15 years
Sewer lines and drainage channels 80 years

Costs incurred for capital construction and acquisition are carried in consfruction in progress until
disposifion or completion of the related projects. The major components of construction in progress are
sewer fines, wastewater treatment and stormwater facilities. Costs relating to projects not pursued are
expensed, while costs relating to completed projects are capitalized as plant, lines and other facilities.

J. Capitalized Interest

interest capitalized on projects funded from bond proceeds is recorded as the difference between the
interest costs of the borrowing less interest earned on undisbursed invested proceeds during the
construction period. [nterest is not capitalized on project costs that are reimbursed by contributions of
capital from government, property owners and developers.

K. Impairment of Capital Assets

In- accordance with GASB Statement No. 42, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of
Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries,” management evaluates prominent events or changes In
clrcumstances affecting capital assets to determine whether impairment of a capital asset has occurred.
Such events or changes in circumstances that may be indicative of impairment include evidence of
physical damage, enactment or approval of laws or regutations, other changes in environmental factors,
technology changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the manor of duration of use of a capital
asset, and construction stoppage. A capital asset is generally considered impaired if both (a) the decline
in service utility of the capital asset is large in magnituds and (b) the event or change in circumstance is
outside the normal life cycle of the capital asset. No impalrment losses were recognized in the years
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

' L. Bonds Pavable

Bonds payable are recorded at the principal amount outstanding, net of any applicable premium or
discount.

Refunding: Bonds outstanding, which have been refunded and economically defeased, are not included
in long-term debt. The related assets are not included in-investments. The loss on refunding, which is the
difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt, is deferred outflow
of resources and amortized as a component of interest expense over the average remaining life of the old
debf,
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
{Dollars in thousands)

- NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLIGIES (Continued)

Derivatives: MSD enters into interest rate swap agreements to modify interest rates on outstanding debt.
MSD records the net interest expenditures resulting from these agreements and amortizes gainsflosses
resulting from the termination of these agreements until the original termination date of the agreement.
Derivative instruments are reported at fair value as deferred inflow of resources. Changes in fair value of
derivative Instruments are reported in non-operating revenue (expenses) on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Nat Position.

Bond [ssuance Costs: Bond issue costs are capitalized and amortized over the life of the respective bond
issue using the strafght-line method, which approximates the effective interest method, pursuant to the
election of regulatory operation under GASB 62, as they are deemed recoverable through future rates.

Original Issue Discount/Premium; Criginal issue discounts and premiums on bonds are amortized as a
component of interest expense using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest
method, over the lives of the honds to which they relate.

M. Compensated Absences

Vacation and personal pay benefits are accrued as vested by MSD employees.

N. Allocation of Overhead

MSD allocates averhead costs fo its core business processes which are: operations and maintenance
(service and administrative costs); design, construction and acquisition of plant lines and other facilities;
and subsidiary business enferprises. '

0. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual restiits could differ from those estimates.

P. Income Tax Status

MSD is exempt from federal income tax under the Internal Revenue Code as a political subdivision of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky.,

Q. Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2013 financial statefnents to conform to those used in
2014. These reclassifications had no impact on total net position or the change in net position.
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT - -
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

NOTE 2 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

A comparative statement of cash, cash equivalents and investments held in MSD's portfolic follows:

June 30, 2014

Weighted Average Credit
Investment Type Fair Value Maturity in Years Rating
U § Agency Securities $ 27,953 0.95 Aaa
Municipal Bonds 93,263 24,44 Aa
Money Market Funds 66,256 T 013 Asa
Commerclal Paper 29,993 0.14 A /P
Repurchaso Agreement/Gash 26,038
Certificate of Deposit 100
Total 245,603 10.57
Accrued interest 1,198
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 3 246,802
June 39, 2013
Weighted Averaga Credit
Imasiment Type Fair Value Maturity in Years Rating
Fed Natl MTGE Assn Pool $ 22,639 0.32 Aaa
Munlcipal Bonds 90,575 28,20 Aa
foney Market Funds 53,152 0.13 . Aaa
Commercial Paper 29,992 0,11 A1 P
Repurchase Agresment/Cash 22,831
Certificate of Deposit . 100
Total 219,299 12.17
Accrued interest 1,226
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 3 220,625

Section 66.480.of the Kentucky Revised Statutes and the District’s bond resolutions authorize the District
to invest money subject to its controt In, among other securities, (i) obligations of the United States and of
its agencies and instrumentalities, inciuding obligations subject to repurchase agreements, (i) certificates
of deposit or other interest-bearing accounts of any bank or savings and loan institution which are insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or, to the extent not so insured, collateralized hy
obligations described in clause (i) above, (i) securities issued by a state or local government, or any
instrumentality or agency thereof, In the United States, and rated in either of the two highest categories by
a nationally recognized rating agency, and (iv) money-market mutual funds investing in any of the
securitles described above. MSD hond resolutions and covenants contain similar restrictions.

Investments are made based upon prevailing market conditions at the time of the transaction with the
intent to hold the instrument until maturity. With this strategy, investments would be expected to reach
maturity with limited realized gains or losses. If the yield of the portfolio can be improved upon by the
sale of an investment, prior to its maturity, with the reinvestment of the proceeds, then this provision is
also allowed,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dollars In thousands)

NOTE 2 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Concenfration of Cradit Risk:

MSD's Invesiment Policy ("The Policy”) requires that investments be divided to eliminate the risk of loss
resulting from over-concentration of assets in a specific maturity, a specific issuer, or a specific class of
securities. Section Vill of The Policy cutlines the permitted investments and identifies the fimitations
placed on the types of investments to minimize the risk.

Interest Rate Risk;

The Policy also requires that all investments have among the highest category of ratings by the nationally
recognized rating agencies. The credit ratings are shown in the preceding table. Where applicable, all of
the above investments have such ratings. The weighted average maturity in years represents the interest-
rate risk for MSD.

Custodial Credit Risk:

This is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, MSD would not be able to recover the
value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside parly. The
coltateral provided by financial instifutions is considered adequate to cover all balances in excess of limits
set forth by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. All of MSD's investments are held by MSD or in
tha name of MSD by a Trustee. )

Foreign Currency Risk:

This risk relates to any potential adverse effects on the fair value of an investment from changes in
exchange rates. MSD did not hold any foreign currency as of June 30, 2014 and 2013.

A reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and investments as shown on the Comparative Statement of
Net Position for MSD is as follows:

June 30, 2014 June 30, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted $ 84,780 $ 66,376
Investments - unrestricted 100 100
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 39,507 62,249
Investments - restricted 121,216 90,574

5 245,603 $ 219,299
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013

(Dollars in thousands)

NOTE 3 RESTRICTED CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

MSD's revenue bond resolution provides that MSD shall maintain in a Debt Service Reserve Account a
‘balance equal to the maximum annual aggregate gross principal and interest due on all outstanding
revenue bonds; or, in lieu of cash and investments in that amount, a letter of credit or policy of bond
fnsurance payable in that amount. Cash, cash equivalents and investments segregated as accounts

restricted for authorized construction include proceeds from issuance of M3D bonds.

June 30, 2013

Restriction June 30, 2014

Payment of band / BAN principal

and interest and resenes . $ 148,451 $ 134,701
Authorized construction 12,272 18,122
Total restricted cash, cash

equivalents and investments $ 160,723 $ 152,823

NOTE 4 SCHEDULE OF NET POSITION
A comparative schedulé of net position follows:
Net Paosition 2014 2013
Net investment In capital assets:
Plant, lines and other facilities
net of depreciation % 2,270,502 $ 2,190,085
Outstanding debt that applies to
plant, lines and other facilities (1,806,826) (1,733,951)
Other capital related debt (107,602) (109,011)
Unspent bond proceeds 12,272 18,122
Total 368,346 365,225
Restricted:

Funds held in bank 180,723 152,822

less: Unspent bond proceeds (12,272) (18,122)

Other - 2,239

Total 148,451 136,939
Unrestricted net position 85,963 684,750
Total net position $ 602,780 % 566,914
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
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NOTE 5 CAPITAL ASSETS - PLANT, LINES AND OTHER FACGILITIES
A comparative schedule of plant, lines and other facilities for the years 2014 and 2013 follows:

Year ended June 30, 2014

.Beginning Retiremenis/ Ending
Balance - Additlons Reclassificafions Balance
Capital assets: .
Sewer lines $  1,265437 $ 4,596 $ 4,147 $ 1,274,180
Wastewater ireatment facitities 479,998 T 143 9,148 489,289
Stormwater drainage facllities 443,577 2,503 2,819 448,899
Pumpling and ift stations 89,503 769 6,547 96,819
Administrative facllities 49,317 30 B 48,342
Maintenance facilities 8,037 - - 8,037
Machinery and equipment 56,840 4 1,491 58,335
Miscellaneous 27,042 21 3) 27,060
Capitalized interest 282,697 19,103 - 301,800
Total capital assets 2,702,448 27,169 24,144 2,753,761
Less accumulated depreciation:
Sewerlines {255,797} (15,620) - (271,417)
Wastewaler treatment facilities (306,365) (20,100) - (326,465)
Stomwaler drainage facllities (114,582) (5,138) . - (119,717 -
Pumping and lift stations {41,809) {4,339 - (46,148)
Administrative facllities {30,457) (1,759 - (32,216)
Malntenance facliitles {5,480} (244) - (5,724)
Machinery and equipment . (48,472) (3,943) - (52,415)
Miscellaneous (13,330) (3,980) - {17,310)
Capitalized interest {(67,907) (7,107} - {75,014)
Total accumulated depreciation (8584,199) {62,227) - {946,426)
CGonstruction in progress ' 371,816 115,495 (24,144) 463,167
$ 2,190,085 $ 80,437 5 - $ 2,270,502

Capital assets include non-depreciable assets for land related to the facilities, and pumping and lift
stations. The carrying value was $14,889,222 and $12,862,037 at June 30, 2014 and 2013.
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LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS )
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

NOTE 5 CAPITAL ASSETS - PLANT, LINES AND OTHER FACILITIES (Continued)
Year ended June 30, 2013
Beginning Retirements/ Ending
Balance Additions Reclassifications Balance
Capital assets: ‘
Sever lines § 1,179,685 $ 12,756 $ 72,996 $ 1,265,437
Wastewater treatment facilities 479,226 565 207 479,598
Stormwater drainags facilities 437,138 650 5,788 443,577
Pumping and fift siations 73,023 2,135 14,345 89,503
Administrathe facilities 45,058 896 2,353 -49,317
Maintenance facilities 8,037 - : - 8,037
Machinery and equipment 55,390 202 1,248 56,840
Miscellaneous 21,678 : 549 4,815 27,042
Capitalized interest 260,157 22,540 - 282,697
Total capital assets 2,560,403 40,293 101,752 2,702,448
Less accumulated depreciation:
Sewer lines (241,161} (14,636) - (255,797)
Wastewater treatment facilities {286,257} (20,108) - (308,365)
Stormwater drainage facilities {109,489) (5,083) - (114,582)
Pumping and lift stations (38,384) (3,425) - {41,809)
Administrative facilities (28,292} (1,165} - {30,457)
Maintenance facilities (5,210} 270 - (5,480)
Machinery and equipment {43,385) {4,587) - (48,472)
Miscellaneous (10,161) (3,169} ‘ - {13,330)
Capitalized interest ) (61,356} (6,551} - {67,007)
Total accumulated depreciation {825,205) (58,994) - {884,199)
Construction in progress 370,350 103,218 - {101,752) 371,816

$ 2,105,548 5 84,517 $ - $ 2,190,085
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NOTE 6 CAPITALIZED INTEREST

A comparative schedule of net inferest cost capitalized and net interest expense reported in non-
operating revenues in 2014 and 2013 follows:

Included in
Non-
Year ended June 30, 2014 Capitalized Operating Total
Investment earnings $ - b 20,330 5 20,330
Interest cost {19,103) (71;129) {90,232)
Net interest $ {19,103) B (50,799)  $ {(69,902)
Included in
Non- ‘
Year ended June 30, 2013 Capitalized Operating Total
Investment earnings % 3,818 3 16,301 $ 20,119
Interest cost (26,358) (76,217) {102,575)
Net Interest 5 {22,540) $ (59,918) L {82,456)
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(Dollars in thousands})

NOTE 7 LONG-TERM DEBT

A comparative schedule of long-term debt outstanding at June 30, 2014 and 2013 follows:

Original

Revenue Bonds [ssue Amount

Interest Rates

Final
Payment
In

Outstanding as of:

2014

2043

2005 Sewer and Drainage
System Revenue Bonds
Series 2005A

2006 Sewer and Drainage
System Rewenue Bonds
Serles 2008A

2007 Sewer and Drainage
System Revenue Bonds
Series 2007A

2008 Sewer and Drainage
System Rewvenue Bonds
Series 2008A

2009A Sewer and Drainage
System Revenua Bonds
Series 2009A

2009B Sewer and Drainage
Systermn Rewenue Bonds
Series 20098

2009C Sewer and Drainage
System Revenua Bonds
Series 2009C

2010A Sewer and Drainage
System Revenue Bonds
Serles 2010A

2011A Sewer and Drainage
Sysfem Revenue Bonds
Series 2011A

2013A Sewer and Drainage
System Revenue Bonds
Series 2013A

2013B Sewer and Drainage
System Renenue Bands
Seres 20138

2013C Sewer and Drainage
System Revenue Bonds
Serles 2013C

84,740

100,000

61,125

105,000

78,275

225,770

330,000

263,360

115,790

119,815

100,000

Total Long-Term Debt

Less: Current Maturities
Add : Unamortized Premium/Discount

Total Long-Term Debf, net

- 180,000

3.00% - 5.00%
4,00% - 5.00%
4.00% - 5.00%
4.00% - 5.00%
5,00%
2.00% - 5.00%
5.98%
6.25%
3.00% - 5.00%
4%
4,00% - 5.00%

3.C0% - 5.00%
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2026

2038

2025

2038

2022

2023

2040

2043

2034

2036

2038

2044

% -18,820

89,325

48,080

100,860

52,720

164,785

180,000

330,000

258,330

115,790

119,515

100,000

L 20,770

91,280

50,240

101,810

57,945

177,785

180,000

330,000

280,125

115,790

118,515

1,578,225
(28,525)
60,263

1,505,260
(27,035)
56,764

% 1,609,863

$ 1,534,989




LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
(Dolfars in thousands)

NOTE 7 LLONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

A schedule of future deht service requirements after June 30, 2014 follows:

Revenue Bonds

Principal Interest Total
Year Ending June 30, '

2015 $ 28850 $ 81,603 $ 110,253

2016 30,100 80,189 110,289

2017 31,775 78,707 110,482

2018 33,550 77,140 110,690

2019 35,440 . 75,466 110,906
2020-2024 200,820 348,756 549,576
2025-2029 229,580 296,250 525,830
20302034 143,080 250,097 393,177

. 2035-2039 426,780 190,514 617,204
2040-2044 418,450 86,143 484,503

$ 1,578,225 $ 1,544,865 $ 3,123,090

A comparative summary of current and long-term revenue bond activity for the years ended June 30,
2014 and 2013 follows:

2014 2013
Revenue Bonds - beginning of year, net $1,505,260 $1,562,510
Bonds issuad 100,000 235,305
Principal paid on bonds and bond refunding {27,035) (292,555)
Revenue Bonds - end of year, net - $1,578,225 $1,505,260

MSD long-term debt Is issued to provide sufficient funding for sewer and drainage projects approved for
construction. MSD has arbitrage calculations performed as needed by an independent third party to
comply with federal regulations.

A summary of significant debt transactions foltows:

New Debt Transactions: On November 8, 2013, MSD Issued $100,_OOO of Sewer and Drainage System
Revenue Bonds, Serfes 2013C. Proceeds of the 2013C bonds, net of issuance cost were used to pay the
cost of improvements to MSD's sewer and drainage system.
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NOTE 7 LONG-TERM DEBT {Continued})

2013 Refunding Transaction: On Aprit 23, 2013, MSD issued $115,790 of Sewer and Drainage System
Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A. Proceeds of the 2013A bonds, net of issuance cost and together with
funds released from the Reserve Account were used fo currently refund $131,670 of MSD'’s outstanding
Sewer and Drainage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2001A, On April 23, 2013, MSD issued $119,515
of Sewer and Drainage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2013B. Proceeds of the 2013B bonds, net of
issuance cost and together with funds released from the Reserve Account were deposited into an Escrow
Fund with the Paying Agent to advance refund $100,000 of MSD's outstanding Sewer and Drainage
System Revenue Bonds, Series 2004A and to.advance refund $34,345 of Series 2006A. As a result, the
refunded honds are considered to be defeased and the lability has been removed from MSD’s Statement
of Net Position. Both refundings were undertaken to reduce debt service payments over the next 26
years hy $111,513 and resulted in a present value savings of $43,779.

Deht Service Covenant: A debf ratio covenant has been established under the 1993 Sewer and Drainage
System Revenue Bond Resolution. MSD was in compliance with the ratio covenant as of June 30, 2014
and 2013. :

Swap Terminations: MSD enters into swaps and other derivative confracts to lock in long term rates in
advance of issuing long term debt to create and manage variable rate exposure in its deht portfolio and to
take advantage of market opportunities that hedge embedded interest rate and tax regulation risk that
exists on its statement of net position.

Upon a termination of a swap, any termination receipt or payment is amortized into income or expense
until the original expiration date of that swap. Any unamortized portion of the recelpt or payment is
recorded as a deferred debit or credit in long-term liabilities. MSD has swap agreement terminations with
outstanding halances accreting to non-operating revenue as follows:

s On January 24, 2001, MSD terminated a nineteen-year interest rate swap agreement for
$100,000 of its fixed-rate 1999 Series Sewer and Drainage Revenue Bonds. The termination of
this swap agreement resulted in the receipt of a payment in the amount of $7,935. This payment
will be amortized annually into income untit 2019, the original termination date on the agreement,

o In April 2008, MSD entered into a swap agreement with Deutsche Bank AG for an initial notlonal
amount of $171,405 which provided that beginning May 15, 2006, a net payment will be made
based on MSD paying 78.78% of the 3-month LIBOR Index on the notional amount and receiving
73.45% of the 5-year LIBOR index on the notional amount. On January 23, 2008, MSD
terminated this swap agreement and received a termination payment of $4,170 that will be
amortized until 2023, the orlginal fermination date of the agreement,

e On January 25, 2008, MSD terminated a twenty-seven year Floating to Floating (Basis) Interest
Rate Swap agreement with a notional amount of $282,165. MSD entered into this agreement
with Morgan Stanley in April 2006 and paid 67% of the 1-Month LIBOR index and received 62.2%
of the 5-Year LIBOR Index. The termination of this Swap agreement resulted in the receipt of a
payment in the amount of $5,766. This payment will be amortized annually into income until
2033, the original termination date of the agreement. ’

e In May and June of 2013, MSD terminated two Floating to Fixed Interest Rate swap agreements,
two Basis swap agreements and three Reversal swap agreements. Additionally, MSD partially
terminated two Floating to Fixed Interest Rate swap agreements. The termination value of all
swap agreements resulted in a net payment by MSD of $152. This action will resulf in a savings
of $13.5 million over the next ten years.

36



LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
{Dollars in thousands)

NOTE 7 LONG-TERM DEBT {Continued)
Derivatives:

At June 30, 2014 MSD had the following derivative instruments outstanding:

Inttial Current ity MsD &/30/2014 613072013 Change in
" Notionat Motional  Payment Termination Payment Racalpt Falr Falr Falr
{tem Gounfer-Parly  Amount Amount  Start Date Date Terms Terms Valug Valug Value

A WelsFargo $ 2573 §180,716 11152000  EN572003 4.4215% 67% of 30-day LBOR § {56897y §  (57823) §

B DBankof America 56,433 45284 111152009 5162013 4.4215% 67% of 30-day LBOR (14,743} {14,495}

(974)

{248}

Tolal § 282,185  §226,000 ’ § (738400 % (T2M8) 8

{1229)

LIBOR = London Interbank Offering Rate
SHIFMA = Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association

A comparative summary of the change in fair value of swaps for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
follows:

2014 2013

Fair value - beginning of year $  {72,418) § (108,704)
Change in fair value (1,222) 36,286
Fair value - end of year $  (73,640) 3 {72,418)

MSD originally entered into interest rate swaps as a hedging derivative instrument. The interest rate
swaps were found to be ineffective as of June 30, 2010, based on evaluation and consideration of
consistent critical terms and quantifative methods. The total of investment derivatives are reported as
interest rate swaps on the Statement of Net Position. All changes in fair value of the derivatives are
recorded as a separate component of non-operating revenue {expenss).

MSD’s outstanding swaps consist of two Floating-to-Fixed swaps described as follows:

Floating-to-Fixed Swaps are structured so that the notional amount of the swap decreases over time
corresponding to the maturity and sinking fund schedule of the actual or expected bond issue being
hedged. The Floating-to-Fixed swaps have been done on a forward hasis with the swap payments
starting at a future date when MSD anticipates refunding outstanding debt, which can be fssued as
variable rate bonds or short-term notes. In 2001, MSD entered into two swaps (A and B) for a synthetic
advance refunding of its Serfes 1999A Bonds. In 2002, MSD entered into two swaps (C and D) for a
synthetic advance refunding of its Series 1993 Bonds, and subsequently issued variable-rate Series 2003
Bonds to complete the refunding.
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NOTE7 ' LONG-TERM DEBT (Cohtinued)

Derivatives - {Continued)

Credit Risk:

MSD has implemented steps fo safeguard it against the risks associated with the aforementioned swap
transactions. If the counter-party does not maintain A1/A+ ratings from Moody's and Standard and
Poor’s, the swaps contain provisions that require them to be marked to market weekly with monthly
statements sent to MSD and the vaiue will be collateralized with U.S. Treasury and Agency securities with
thie securities held by a ti-party custedian approved by MSD. All costs of collateralization will be horne
by the downgraded party who must post the collateral. In addition, the Octoher 2002 (A and B) swaps
were awarded to muitiple firms to further mitigate the credit risk associated with the transactions. The
credit ratings as of 6/30/2014 for the counter-parties are as follows:

Credit Ratings

Standard &
- Rating Agency NMoody's Poor's
Bank of America A2 A
Wells Fargo Aa3 AA -

The agreements also provide for automatic termination if MSD’s unenhanced bond rating s downgraded
below BBB/Baa. MSD's obligations under all of its outstanding swap agreements are unsecured and
subordinate to all bonds Issued and outstanding.

The positive and negative fair values of the swap agreements were provided by a'third~party financial
advisor. The net swap payments made in FY 2014 and FY 2013 were $9,733 and $10,200 respectively.

Arbitrage Rebate Liability:

Federal tax regulations generally require the periodic payment to the U.S. Treasury of investment
earnings on the proceeds of an issue of tax-exempt municipal bonds to the extent those eamings exceed
the yield on the bonds. Such payments, known as arbitrage rebate, are normally payable every fifth year
following the issuance of a series of bonds and upon the retirement of the bond issue. As of June 30,
2014 and 2013, MSD’s accrued Hability for arbitrage rebate was $0 and $0 respectively.
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NOTE 8 SHORT TERM DEBT
A summary of short terrn debt activity is provided below:
o On November 6, 2013 MSD issued $226,340 of Sewer and Drainage System Subordinated Bond
Anticipation Notes, Series 2013A Notes with an interest rate of 2.00%. The proceeds of the notes
were used to refinance the 2012A Notes. The 2013A Notes mature on November 26, 2014,

A comparative summary of short term debt for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2014 foliows:

June 30, 2014 - June 30, 2013

Shortterm deht - beginning of year $ 228,691 $ 226,340

Debt incurred 226,340 228,735
Principal pald on debt {226,430) {226,384)
Short-term debt -~ end of year $ 228,601 $ 228,691
NOTE 9 RETIREMENT PLAN AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Plan Description. MSD contributes to the County Employees Retirement System (CERS) which is a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Kentucky Retirement System,
an agency of the Commonwealth of Kentucky. The CERS provides for retirement, disability and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The Kentucky Retirement System issues a publicly available
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplemental information for the CERS.
That report may be obtained by writing to the Kentucky Retirement System, 1260 Louisville Road,
Frankfert, Kentucky 40601-6124.

Funding Policy. Plan members hired before September 1, 2008 are required to contribute 5% of their
creditable compensation. MSD is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Plan members
hired after September 1, 2008 contribute 6%. The employer contribution rates for the years ending June
30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were 18.89%, 16.55% and 18.96% respectively, of participating employees’
compensatlon

Annual Pension Cost. The contribution requirements of plan members and MSD are established and
may be amended by the CERS Board of Trustees. MSD's contributions to the GERS for the years ending
June 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were $7,122, $7,219 and $7,156 respectively, equal to 100% of the
required ‘contributions for each year.

Healtheare Plan: The Kentucky Retirement Systems Insurance Fund (“Fund”) was established to provide
hospital and medical insurance for members receiving benefits from CERS, the Kentucky Employees
Retirement System and the State Police Retirement System, The Fund pays a prescribed contribution for
whole or partial payment of required premiums to purchase hospital and medical insurance. For the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, insurance premiums withheld from benefit payments for members of
CERS were approximately $27,800 each year.
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NOTE 10 RISK MANAGEMENT

MSD is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; natural disasters; and injuries to MSD's employees. These risks are provided for
- through various programs.

MSD participates in the Louisville Area Governmental Self-Insurance Trust ("The Trust”). The Trust,
which is certifled by the Kentucky Department of Insurance to practice as a "group liability self-insurance
trust,” was created on January 1, 1987. Trust members currently include the Louisvile Metro
Government, six smaller cities, and six government agencies. The Trust was formed to provide better risk
protection and lower cost liability insurance by sharing the risk with all of its members. MSD’s payments
to the Trust are reflected on the financial statements as an expense. The Trust provides, after a $300
deductible various liability coverage up to $5,000 per occurrence. Excess insurance may provide an
additional $2,000 of coverage, above the Trust $5 million, to MSD. The amount of coverage available to
MSD could be limited by the total assets of the Trust. For fiscal year 2014, the LAGIT Trust did not make
any MSD claim payments.

MSD has chosen to self-insure the basic worker's compensation insurance. Claims administration is
handled by a third-party administrator and includes claims monitoring, check issuance, settlement
negotiations and loss control services. Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has
occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. A separate insurance policy provides
caverage in excess of $300 for catastrophic injury claims by an employee or several employees as a
result of a single occurrence.

A roll forward of for worker's compensation claims follows;

June 30, 2014 June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012

Liability - beginning of year % 1,832 $ 1,757 3 1,723
Claims and changes in estimates 760 1,433 Q77
Payments (864) (1,358) (943)

Liability -end of year 3 1,728 $ 1,832 3 1,757

MSD joined the Louisville Area Governmental General Insurance Trust (“Property Self-Insurance Trust")
in September 2002. The Property Seif-Insurance Trust was created to provide lower cost to participants
and broader coverage for property risks,

MSD is responsible for covered property damage up fo $100, except for flood and vehicle collision
coverage, which have separate deductibles. The Property Seif-insurance Trust provides coverage for the
next $900 per occurrence, except for Flood Zone A locations. An excess insttrance policy with a third-
party carrier covers claims in excess of $1,000.

. In the past three fiscal years (2012-2014), the LAGIT Trust has pald a total of $470 on two MSD liability
claims and the LAGGIT Trust paid $602 on one MS8D property claim and $112 on another MSD hail claim
that exceaded MSD's deductibles under the Trusts. There have been no changes in MSD's self-
insurance coverage from the prior year.
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NOTE 11 DEFERRED COMPENSATION

MSD offers its employees deferred compensation plans created in accordance with Internal Revenue
Service Code Sections 401(k) and 457. These plans, available to all MSD employees, permit them fo
defer the payment of a portion of their salary until future years. Participation in these plans is voluntary
and MSD makes no contributions to these plans on behalf of the employee. The deferred tcompensation
is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseen emergency. All amounts
of compensation deferred, including the investments and earnings thereon, vest with the employee and
are not subject to the claims of MSD’s general creditors,

NOTE 12 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENGIES

Sale of Sewer Assessments:

MSD has entered into agreements to seli sanitary sewer assessments to a local bank. These
assessments reflect the portion of the cost that residents pay to have sewer lines installed in their
neighborhood. Residents are given the opportunity to pay the assessment in full or to finance it over a
twenty-year period at 7% interest per annum. The original agreement called for the bank to accept up to
$25,000 of outstanding assessments and for MSD to receive 104% of the face value of the assessments.

The subseqguent agreement allows an additional $5,000 of assessments to be sold fo the bank at face
value. These agreements give the bank the option to place the assessments back to MSD if the
payments of the property owner are ninety days in arrears or the property owner does not respond to the
bank's demand for payment within a ninety day period after the issuance of the assessment. Sales to the
bank are net of any subsequent repurchases of warrants by MSD. The unpaid principal balance of loans
held by the bank at June 30, 2014 and 2013 was $2,544 and $3,101, respectively.

EPA Consent Decres:

In April 2005, MSD agreed to enter into a Consent Decree with the Commonwealth of Kentucky's -
Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet {("The Cabinet”) and the U.S. Environmenta!l Protection
Agency ("EPA").

The Consent Decree calls for MSD to submit a final Long-Term Control Plan (“LTCP*) to The
Cabinelt/EPA for review and joint approval by December 31, 2008, which was completed. The final LTCP
includes schedules, deadlines, and fimetables for projects to be completed by December 31, 2020. In
addition, a Sanitary Sewer Discharge Plan ("SSDP") was due by December 31, 2008, which was
completed. The SSDP includes schedules and deadlines for capital projects to be completed by the end
of 2024. The cost of the projects is estimated to be $850,000.

Also, MSD agreed to pay a civil penalty to the Commonwealth of Kentucky in the amount of one million
dollars ($1,000) to resolve the violations alleged in the Cabinet's and EPA’s complaints up through the
date of entry of the Consent Decree. The agreement also calls for MSD to perform supplemental
environmental projects (SEPS) at an amount of not less than $2,250. MSD neither admitted nor denled
the alleged violations but acknowledged that discharges occurred and accepted the obligations imposed
in the Consent Decree. The Consent Decree, as negotiated, was entered by the U.S. District Court
Judge on August 12, 2005. In April 2009, MSD agreed to enter into an Amended Consent Decree with
the Commonwealth of Kentucky's Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet and the EPA. The
agreement called for MSD to design and implement projects within specified deadlines that will eliminate
sewer overflows in its service area. In a letter dated June 6, 2014, MSD requested approval from the
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KEPPC and the EPA for-the [OAP 2012 Modifications, dated May 2014. The I0AP 2012 Modifications
represents a revision to 28 separate projects set forth in the original IOAP, dated September 30, 2009.
The IOAP Modifications were approved and will supersede and replace the 2009 I0AP. To date, MSD
has complied with all submittals and reports requirements contained in the Amended Consent Decree.
The enforcement actions initiated by the EPA are not unique in the wastewater treatment industry.
Several wastewater utilities have signed, or are in the process of signing, Consent Decrees. In the
opinion of MSD, the resolution of any violations will not result in material adverse affect on the operation,
property or finances of MSD.

Other Matters:

MSD is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not presently
determinable, it fs the opinion of the MSD's management that resolution of these matters will not have a
maferial adverse effect on the financial statements of MSD.

The value of construction contracts signed, where work has not yet been performed at June 30, 2014,
amounted to $108,823, and was $46,450 at June 30, 2013.

NOTE 13 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On A'ugust 1, 2014, MSD's rates for wastewater and stormwater charges increased by 5.5%.

MSD plans to issue $80,000 of Revenue Bonds in November 2014 to fund capital projects.

MSD plans to issue $226,340 of Bond Anticip'ation Notes in November 2014 to refinance the 2013A
Notes,
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STATISTICAL SECTION

This section of the Louisville & Jefferson Counly Metropolitan Sewer District's (MSD)
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents detailed information as a supplement to the
information presented in the financial statements and note disclosures to assist readers in
assessing MSD's overall financial health.

Contents 7 Page

Debt Service Coverage ‘ 43

This schedule presents information to help readers assess MSD's debt burden and
MSD’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Financial Trends ' ' 44
These schedules contain trend information to help readers understand how MSD's
financlal performance and position have changed over time. The information presented

includes changes in net assets, an analysis of revenues and expenses and a
comparative statement of cash flows

Revenue Capacily E 48

This schedule contains information to help readers assess MSD’s most significant revenue
sources.

Operating Informatfon 49
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand
how the information in MSD's financial report relates to the services that it provides.

Demographic and Economic Information 52

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help readers understand
the environment within which MSD operates.



+ SehUsADY SIENEAY, U] POpR[aU) 10U pUE ‘fsese puE fediaupd o ualtited tof asings Azlipio aip U] S(GR[PAE S03aq oF pajosdia Jo ‘alqElEne

"Aue p ‘sunowe Jatgo (1) pue “Jgop jo speadord oty e} bed o LBLL yjuM pue pazmden ) ‘sajdpupd Supunoae pajdaooe ATBDURS WM SOUBRIODOR U] YoIYMm ‘astedxe Isalsiul ([ GurenPYXe “UoRNDSoY
olp o} juensind panss spuog B to sjueurenmba) sempn pue edouyd jueuns epeiebbe 51 021uag 1990 JaN ojebwubby, 39op yons jo spagood 3 wer pred eg Azw Yo pue penss) Ukeq s2Y 1dap yalum
Jor sateaosdin) eyjdes af [RuapaL Jo Axesssaau afe ydum dsin o sostadx Guysoulbua pue SANRISIUILPE 2PN[EU] ) S90p Jou Jeda) u:m,muc.mcuﬂqms AeUIRIoEYa Jo) SOAISSSI IPNioU] JoU S90p __uwm:m&m_.
Sunelisdg, “BupunoooE o siseq esudinus sy pue sajdiound Sugunosoe p2jdesit Aeeual Wit S9UERICSIT U] PAUIULRISP uogerde pue Jedal ‘aouEtELEL jo wawc.unxe Lanm AXessa9l Je Brsn ‘AR
‘a|gBlosEal e sopnjoy) sasuady Bumedn, soidiound Bupunoooe paidesot ATRISUAS LM COUTRIODE Ul poZENdeD 51, UIUM SISt Jssrau] AuS SapNioxe g ‘UoRmosay at of Juensind panss] spuog
Jo susufed Jop Aroas st pobped pue dSINE A PAARSRI STUNOLLE JALRo PUE SSTUAAG] T SUEILL ‘UORMOSEY auy Jo sazodmd Jof Ao pash e 4S2NUBATY SIqeRAY, - sosuadig Bugeiado, Jo 95001 PUE spuog
onuoaey Uo @dnes 120 19N Jebaubby., m.h.rv.ah [E35Y YIS 10 %0L) ABd O JUsiolyis "UORMOSaY A1 U PAULDp ST LSInuanay SIqRIEAY, 2o o) aSIN sinbal spureweiddns )i pue Tagniosay £651 UL

“Uopnlassy puog snueAoY Wajsks 2BeUElg B JAMas £661 SIS U PALTEIUSD S31AISS 19T PUR S5UadXs "Bnuead) jo suonuyap u Buisn patedand teag sy alqe Sl

Gl %LLL %OLT %92} Yarel %01 %591 6L %G9l %PEL Oljel 8bBI9A0D 921A1es 1G]
LIS $ ¥G2 [0 [ $ ..@m.k $ 188'cB $ 286 $ B6G'BL $ B6S9Y $ £62°C6 $ Ge0'08 $ 92195 Jgep U jebaibby
{eng'sa) {s5.L'51) (orLyL) {oss'oL) - (oLe'sh) (cel's2) (+92'92) (gee'sa) {e0)'s1) asuadxe Jsael paziendas 1Sse
S6E'TL Z91'89 8¥5°0L 816'99 9LLZL 8Y6°69 ¥e'8L N AL 918'26 £L8'08 asuadxs 1sata]
$29'cl 0se'L) osL'gl Tl G0LeZ 88L'€Z 0be're okL'Ge §e0'12 528'82 Jq9p uua-EUo] JO SSRUNEW JUALNG
. sao1aes Jaop apebabby
B3¢ 88 5I7BL 8T 15 76086 gE8 geL 6BLGEL £e6'TEl ¥SEBS L g08'E5) CEARED SOnuBAal 19N
B¥E €5 $v0'19 6.7 59 SEC 0L 8L0'89 BEE el 556 9L Gel Gl 1E6 7. SSC'eL SostodXa DUReIodo 15301,
(ogz'se) (188'sD) (6L2'62) {oLe'en) (Lez'sd) {ez1'8e) {g0c'08) (ooz'eed (0rLes) {gag'es) 1500 palvid peepded issey
seg'es eor'es ¥61'68 5396 ge6'es 890'101 L0E'L0L SZE'801L L0801 126°90L S1S0T AMENSIUIWPE PUR 20JA19G
ssesugdxe Gugerado
8EF L¥k Secovh 205 571 Ger 89l 11§ Z61 BELE0C 286 B0 6LF 65T 6EL82C 160652 SonudAdd [0,
{&rz'a) {(res't) (LPL'E) {osL'L) - (086's) {rel'zl) {Lge'y) zre'e) - aLIEoU] JuBUSaALT peieideD Jssa
£0S*pL gGe's JAR o] §80'g 895'c s¥0'ge 00L'€E £39°0F 6LL'0Z oeg'oe SLIOOU! JBUNSSALY
1eL'0l 96.'9 Lez'e 152 PAsion g £60'L OvL'Z sob'e Z68'Z 621'2 SiuslUssIssy
8826 ErANA 996's a8 2558 086°2 6.8'2 96.L°L £zZ8'y 9/5'c - swesul Bugerede Jauy0
Les'ell ¢ er9'zel  $ oebsgl 4 e88'9sl  $ PO0'E9L  $ OLO'B9L  $ s6T'eBL $ Z8Y08L ¢ EEE'soz ¢ gsoviz ¢ safleyo sopag
. - . . ISANUSADY
§00C 300T Z00E 200% 5002 010z Lroz AN EL0T TLOZ
{spussnoly tf £}
0E ANNC OFONT SyvaA -

FIVHIAOD FOIANIS 1930 40 STINAIHOS TALLYEYINOD
1OMLSK] HSARIS NY.LTOdCHISN
AMINLNTH ALNNOD NCSHI A3 ANY STTASINOT

A3



822'006'L $ 2£9G/6°L § SL9'9Le'L $ TrOT0 T § SELLBUC $ ¥BLGOT S S Seceesc & BLIZISZ § 1o0eerz $ 0/9°668°C § SMOIPNC pallojop Ppue sJesse 1830
669'¢¢ 6LLLZ 69861 0208 . "E¥iYL L0581 YRSl 941Gl . LIGEL LLELL S0UNDSA] JO AOIPNO PolIafag
626//8°) § ©G8'€S6'L $ 95L°9L6'L § L20BZ0C$ ©66'990C $ LSCABEC $ G6YGUSC G oV ZBYE S 0SLE9YZ § 695 1I0Z G SJOSSE |BJ01
SS6'P69°L  ¥ZLEELlL  955veLl L wrm‘mmﬁ.r LELQLEL  IEETIG8L T 28/200C  BVGGOLE  Ge006LT  Z0CU0.LZZ SeRINoENeI0 pUE Saull Jueld 39N
S0L /62 18L'LIE Cey'est SR L1428l YEL OV L 058°¢Le 0SE'QLE SLe'LIE £91°e9% §581501d U1 UOTONOSUoD
V52 LBEL €96 LgSh  OEMLSTL  LLUEGO L 920 ve9 L _ COZLLZL  ceB6ell  86Veel L GhEGIET  SEEIGeT
Wwes'izy)  {66L7cS)  (SF98.S)  (96¢Be9) (085 089) (2SS WD  (G2h'S8l)  (S02C2g) (661788} (igr'ove) UCRER2IIop paeMULINDoy 557
G/8'v48°%  ZALBY0'T  BAL'SYL'Z  ELYleT'E  SOYWIET  SSL'Chb'Z  SOE'EEM'T E0D9S'Z B¥F'20LT  Zal'ssi'z spdafasd pajerdiuon
ISSMIoE ISIPO pue SAUT ‘juEld
- - - S0L°ZE LYyl gL¥EL LGE'GL 636 91 ELL 2L evLLL 5J503 0JUBNSS] puoq poZHomeLn
Zli6e 8LL1Z B7L'82 AT 1e5'ee 09Z'LZ LLB'E] 6vSLL 85E'g) S9|qealasal wial-buo
1987e5! 152 €6k A SLI'6LL EE90G] 500'005 00L'55% 811°95E CETeve 989°sie S}OSSE JUSLING ([0
£08 BSE'} 18L'L 0202 596°} Elg’z 1#8z 2og'l 0LLe 9e9'z S]BSSE JUSLIND JY)0 pUz sesuadys predaryg
060’8 v.8'2 160 020's z0'e o oou'e GEP'E ¥8¥'e 6.8°¢ 808'e SANOJUBAL]
sLL'el Lor'LL 86€'S) zel'ol §50'2l BLLGL B8LLL 289'sl SeP'eL © B0R'LE J|qeAIDS! SIUNCIDY
ves'ee 0se'vel L0g'eL 20242 £08’Le - 0B2'v6E 298762 6L9'v6 ¥45'06 91z'teh SJUSULSSAUL PRIRLISTY
£2ir'so 7 eel's 662'S0L BR6!SE £26'36 BSSZLL lee'ize 6229 £05'6E SJuSEAMbS USED pUB USED ROjoM]Say
912 Go'sl SE6'%T 64871 E8L'L ool . oo (1)) 00l 00k SjusLgSaALl pejoLISRLLn
zel'se ¢ BBLL  $ 2lE'lL § ¥eg'ol S TES'Ee  § 00i%T ¢ 80SWE  $ OF0'ZL ¢ asgeo 08L'%8 ¢ Sjuslennbs Yseo pue yseo peloLgsaIun
. . - ISJOSSY JuaLIng
S00T 9002 002 2002 6002 0L0% FL0Z ZL02 £L0z 102

{sptmznow; v g)

0g N
NOIISOJ 13N 20 INTNILYLS FALYIVENOD
LOMISIT H3IAMTIS NYLTOdoYIIn
AAONLNT "ALNNOD NOSYIII3r ANY STIASINGT

44



822006°LE ZE9'SI6'LY SLO9ER'LS IrOTROES 92L180CE YELS0¥ TS SEE'CES'TS S8L2TLS'ZS LEZESte$ 020G652% UOIi50d 15U pUe SmojIl] PoLiajop ‘SomHIGeT] [EJ0L.
8lz28i5 CO¥'B9G ¥ZELGE BLG 0SS LB0°LSG 967 c6¥ Z6LGES 985305 ¥16'995 0927209 uemisod 1ot [e30L
2zg'09 £85°0L GE0's9 {158'¢9) (ess'sl) {e¥1'262) B A R> £00'8% 05.'%9 £96'68 poIIsan
£eL'FL 126'8 ¥£0°L LEG'SEL SzZ'00L 98l'vee FAR AR 1A Z00°.S1 6E69EL L5l Isauayu % redouud puog 0 uawAed 2oy perLsay
rig'ley £.6's8t GOS6LY £E8'3LY SH0Ly - esL'0sy yEE'E9E G/5'cLe §ZZ's9e 9re'39s sjesse [eyden Ul JUaUNSSALL 19N
. . ‘uogisod 3N
{£99'E) (8/8°8) (06587 v8L¢ ZPET.L CEINA] 8Y6 49 089611 £EZ 28 €6¢ €8 S02m0sal fo MOl palaeq
SLE'LEE L JYOSIYL  LESEBE L YPLO6F L JLOLBYFL  CLOOSE ) SBS GG corbrenl  TrLvee L LI90i6T Saniiqen 101,
Sl1¥'28¢ 1 0S9'SIE’L  GEOWYEF S8R0Vl FLGOBE L CoLEle s  LIgeedl  Piesee Ll ZORCECT  SEL0I9T 3Iop WiorBuo] 1801
PARN > 0682 Z59'T 8le'T YLL'Z 089’} ros‘s £99'G £l6 194 sanyigey uuel-Guo Jatpo
L89's1 §16'%1 ZIEYL 589'gl zie's zog's gre‘se Ry ya.L'es £9z°08 juncosipumLRLd 1gap pazieweun
So9'eg2’l  ggL'obE’)  G60'ZZE'l  SE@'lEY’l  G8L'GSE'L  000'Z08'L  0Z9'MBSTL  OLL'GES'L  STZ'RIPL  002'5%S') slqeded spuog
- sSeRIIqel JUelIno-uoN
SITIE 81182 £5C £t L€ 6E Lobzy 087908 986'642 80.6.2 687582 O¥eg'e8z  19SSE pegoinsel Uloy ojqeAed) Senifige]] Jueiing &0,
B0Z'Y 8Lv'e zZZo°)L Lye'L gL0'L Zgl'} 8og’L susodaq algepuniay
S89'sL 0SZ'LL 061'81 gse'le soL'ez $8L°E2 0v8've ovL'ez Se0'se 525682 ) ajqeAed spuoq Jo SORUNIELL JUaLN:)
. 089°zZst oFe'eee ore'azz leg'gzz . log'gee 1990 pejRUpIOQNS
9.6 o5¥'01 ¥28'01 .6s's 154 - N LOL¥L 09E'2L 6556'E) BSY'TL ¥e8'zl Is=UaUl panIody
£98's 201 BET'Y 0sz's eel'L 269'¢1 SOL'SL 969'21L 891'91 - rANA sesuadxs paruoe pue ajqeded sjunoooy
: : (sppsse paporsa: woy ojqeked) sopqer Jormy
18L° L] 619'¢e BES G gre 0l Se0' L1 A ZELSL 0L¥'Sl E652) £5EEl {sjossE WaLIND o)) GjqeAEd) SeRIqel] JUemns (630,
ezl slgT  $ Beg'el § 8ESCL b SEO'LL $ IWLML § ZBIGL § ou'el ¢ €692l $ es9'tl sesuadxe parusoe pue ajqefed sunosoy
i(syesse UaLInD Woy ajgeied) S3am|Iqe] JuaLng
ISomIIOEr]
SO0z 900z Z00¢ 2002 6002 010z 110z Z10z £L0T ¥LOT -

{spresnowy | &) .
OE 3NN
NOILISOd 1AN 40 INTWILY.LS SALLYNYIROD
LI LSI0 ¥IMIS NYLOdoR1an
AADMINDY ‘ALNNOD NOSHIAIEr aNY ITIASINGT

+

45



G/C'8/C§ £OYPOS § PLIEISG § BLG0SE $ JB0/SS § 9BL26F $ ¢6LGES § 985806 § TIADQS § 092209 & B4 40 pue ‘uomsod JoN
2 7 4 g 3 T T T 006 1ezal jo BurduBag Tuomsod JoNy
E08°198 Gz 8iG  ©or6SG  FLE MGG | BLG0SG | /804SG  OBL oY CBLGES 989805 91698
A4 418 (zie'e)  “(eso'sl) (S8} 895'g (L62'va) 9662t Clyratial gze'gs obg'se uonrsod Jeu u) oBueyY
© T 1 ' t ] 4 h&ﬁo =<
88E'SL 12e'st 5226 LLO'sL 0sY'6 S0L'% giv'e §60'Z +eLL goL's
1 U 4 [ o) - - - SIUAUSSOSSE aUumo Apedord
84¥'2L Zoe'y yeg'L 9L 622'T {5pa) ¥e oo
(rectl)  (ces'se)  (eve'v2)  {oso'ol)  (121'S) (159°29) 6268 (toe'se)  ¥6L'LS . ewLlT sueRnqryuoD alotad (ssof) 7 stuoouy
esz8)  lowyopy fees’1s) — ©61918)  @/z'f%)  (LZ60CL) (e90y  (gngs) | (G86ce)  (02025)  (Sosuodxe) sniuonsi BUREIoto-ioU 5oL
- - oo - .- (ees'sl)  sco'ze  (Leg9'zs)  seTies  (zzEl) sdesms - san[ea Jjef up abiteyn
(vgg'8g) - - - - uopeLIuLa) abpay uodn sseaag
- - - - - 0L5'EL §61L'5E ¥88'92 85£'9Z £0L'5l Isamsiuy paziepdes
- - - - - (gzLe) {ceg') 8% e SLL Jauo - asuadxe jsatay
- - - - {c88?) (s18'®) (Zza'vy  (gez't)  {ooz'on)  (EEL'S) sdems ~ osUadie jsalaiy]
esL'sy)  (vov'os)  (eov'ss)  (ese'ss)  (cee'sd) - (6v6'6®)  (v56'82)  (evoem)  (9L9'ze)  (elLo'0Q) spucq - ssuadxe Sy
552'e ¥98°c 0L8% §B8'Y 895'ce Sv0'ag 00L'EE 489'0F 1oLl 0tg'oz SLoIU] JuaULS3A]
- - . (zeL) (¥g) - ¥6l, GIM 14 - sjesse Jo [esodsip uo (850]) URS
{asuedxa) onuesel Bugeiado-uon
6ELSe SYSLL 06LS1 GBGGE [Eler g2l 9g6'6v G885 577 1L £8L6L SUCHETSA0 WOy aWoe5u]
0LL96 Ozgghl 959611 869'GZL  GO0¥Scl  ¥I¥'8el  OVLGEL  EGUGel  90Z°CEl EOTGEL Soshadxa Buneredo 5501
Lal'ey AN LTS £92'cS lzL'oe £15'g5 1.5 42508 geL'09 9lg'eg UOOEZIICUIE pUe uchepaideq
- - - - {og8) (es6'd) oL {ove'D) (0r8) - pedde Jopun (fanc) peaLpane pazieden
(98z'se)  (ee'sy) (eze'9d)  (ois'ed)  (lov'vd)  (621'ed)  (@v'of)  (0os'08)  (00z'ze) (ges'ee) 1500 Jo AlancoayuohezlEydes
5ee'aL get'en L5108 5Y8'ess GE6'cH 890'L0L  10E'20L  $ZE'BOL  LPO'SOL  LZ'COL 5500 2AJRSSIIPE PUE 30IA1aS
. sesuadxs Sugeladg
Y82l  G9/BeL  Shbeel €829k 955ZdL _ OBGMAL  O/0CEl  8ceeel | GhO0IZ 2590iZ enuenal BURELSdS 1230 |
282'6 FrANTA 956'g ¥6E'y z85'y 086' FANrA osL'L £28'y 9/5'g . awoa Buerado tayo
206'52 osl'ge 968'62 L0V'1E gre'es PATA . LIFLE 953°0F [ Konigerd PArigesd SHBIBLD 2013 JSjEMULGIS
€98'/8 $ L06'C6 $ V6596 $ TOL'STL § 1O9'0EL § ESU'EEL § 088l & 9Z9'BYL ¢ LBL'6SL & ©BG'SSL $ seflieyD aoialas JSBMASEAL
i :onuasal Bunerado
S00C 9002 2002 BO0E G002 [T AR T (454 £102 10T .

(shuemmoyy Uy 4)
02 INAr JIANS SHYIA

LORILSIT ¥3IMIS NYINOL0u N
AAININTY ALNNOD NOSYESZ3r ONY STTIASINGT

NOLLISOd L3N NI SONVHI ONY SISNIDE ‘SINNIATM S0 SINIWFLYLS SALLYEVANOD

46



gsl've § 9218

L90°L¥L & L9E'6EC $ Se9'wel § /8EYEL §

SY0's £38'GLL 5 OPS'8G § ECOES & AB3A JO DU ‘SJUQIBAINRE YSED pUE yseD
PLELEL  SSL'HS 8lLE S¥0'S £€28'61L  0¥S'8es £Zo'el VL AT A A Teak Jo BuunIGad 'SJUS[EAINGS YSeD PUe ysesn
{6é2E]  (62606) 087 8L0k. (E8¢ZS)  ee0se 7 B9 00E¢C6  (erLOLL)  ®eew) Kuajeanbe Ysed puE SEI Uf (05e9198p) aSEa ] Jof
A A I A A .2 T = T0) UV¥iBZ) ¢ov8el 605 Zce  GORL ([95%z) SeqiApoe bugseaur oy papiacid (U pasn) YSEdJaN
- - - 0766 - - - - - - suRURaIBE dems Jo uoeUILIIR] Uo U paziouweun
- - - 86€"L @n (o1 -{os1) (081} . (881 {81 Juswasbe AJoATep presIo) Uo Wwnueid pazoweu
- - - -7 (s9L'y) (cen's) (zzg'ty  (sez'll)  (ooz'ok)  (gEs'®) suswoaiBe dems ~ S5UadxS 1sa1si|
SGLYL LS5's A WA sea'y 986'vT sLe'2e | l8Z'0v 50.'88 QEL'¥L 268'sl SIUILLISALT U PIAIIDA! SWODU]
0L0°0LL  MWE'ZZL  B06°ZEL - - - - - - - SSRLMOSS JUSUNSAAL 1O SaUNEL pUeS S[ES WOy Spaaold
(seg'00L) (866'c08) {008'z) - - - - - - - . SIMUNODS WIURSSALT JO SSEURINS
(121 - - - - - - - - - Wslsalbe dems Jo UORBUILLIS) U0 Panadal (salajy]
Lo 1798 - . - - - - - - ’ spuswAed redputid JUSLUSS3SSY
- - - S5G'0L ars's EEQ'L - - - - SJUBWISSAL] PAOILSAIN
- - - ggo'sy  (Lob'yE)  (LZS'EEE)  ZLO'00L 622’002 90t (eve'0s) SIUSUGSAAU] PRIDLISTY
. :sapiagae Buseaul wol Smop ysen
\E66LYL) (p98%1¥)  (W0G'SEL) (6G6'8% (¥E0SL) GIREZe  (@yy ell) (8/CcCe) (9269rd)  (LLL6LL)  Soniinoe BUIsiedy pajefel 3 [Ei0es wibl PopiAed (U1 pasn) (Seo 181
- - " - - - (oso'zst) (oye'oze) (boe'ecd)  {(0gt'oze) 193P FejeuRoqns uo pred [edipould
- - {gs2) {gz) {L92) (et} (1z2) (£12) {gzg) - (12 Apadoid Supessdo-uou jo uomsmby
- - () oer (o9r) 556 689t Lo (s6) g2 siqeARE obeUEISY
{ooz'sob)  (se0'z9)  (699'se)  (vPO'LE)  (vOS'SL) (oveise)  {ooimil)  (18S'sLL)  (sYOELL)  (Z9B'LZD 9T [EYdeD JO UCKONASUOD pug uohsinbay
(les'og)  (bi'se)  (0st'on)  (vi'se)  (eso'sg)  (z6L'0s)  (L6l'9s)  (ove've)  (6'es)  (512'16) Spuoq SnuaAas uo pled Jsaley|
(ozg'sl)  (sig'sl)  (osz’sr)  (0se'we)  (Swo'se)  (Grz'sst)  (oig'se)  (0se'Zl®  (ov0'el)  (Se0'z2) SpUOY BNUBAAS U0 pIed [edipuud
- - 0L9°1 sov'L L' 885} 766 fass:] LEL 89 SIUBUISSOSEE - DLWOAL ST
- - (5t9) £0L'2 Pisie] 8662 99"t 08s'L £eel 569'L 2]qBAIZDRI SIIALSSASSY
. 0922 8.6°L 986'0} 9860k 860°0L BLu0ol jSalRiL] puoy BsuRlly pIng
8£8'z ooy’ L98'9L AR B29°LL ngs'e FAZA GB0°Z vELV'L £0L'g stadogsasp g siaume Alledosd 'stuswiwarab Ag panguuos fepden
- - - - - 089'25F  OVE'9ZT  OFS'9ez  G8L'8EZ 0bPioTZ 199p pPIBUIpIOgNS LAY Spasuold
ObL'Y9 000'00L - STL'99L SlT'9L 02£'50r  000'0BE  098'€9Z  OBL'SLE  oOO0OL SPUO( SMUSAALJO SOUBNSS] WAL SPaT00sd
ssemiafoe Burowey paje(al pue [epdes wely smop ysen
8Ly LL 0LE'69 72079 Zhe /8 928°66 SLCh6 QLYOFE B9ELEL  BIGUZL  OVOOFL SegIngOE blugelado AQ pOPIROI UsED JoN
(leg'st)  (ve'es) (ees'sd) (Uee'zl) (Uez'ew) (9zv'zs)  (e9e'zd)  (u0'9n)  (9z6%60)  (oii'es)

B9Z'CTL § - 816'GZL & O0OL'PEL § GES'BSL $ £21'99L $ 149'LLL $ 9I6'Z8L & SH'S6L §  S06'202 $ sug'elz ¢

s30foidwa pue sionddns o pred yseo
SIIWOISND 110N PSAIFDA USRS
sagiagoe Bunelado woly smoyl Ysen

5002

2002

2002

200% 6002y

010¢

k02 Zl0e

€102 “¥ioz

(eptizomoty u &)
0 INNFM T2aNT SUv3a -
SAROT HEYD JO SINTNELYLS JALYEYIADD
LORILSIA WEMIS NYLITOdoMIIN

AIDMUNTY "ALNNOD NOSHILLAr ANY STUASINO

AT



BYeZel § S9L6zl & 9Obv'eel § £92'LGL § 95691 § 065'LZL § 9/0G8L § SET Al $ Gr00Le & oECOlZ § . enuajal buhesado JEjoL

9826 ekl 956G ¥EE'Y 2oy 0862 B.ET gsi1 £28F 9/57 ewoat] Sugeiado Jalpo 1oL

P 8¢ a5 8% 85 85 85 ag 8¢ - STUBUR|[SISILL JSIBMULIOIS
Az £69°% 0e's £09') B6S'E 6222 081 662'1 7982 £Z8 SNOSUE[[EISIU JSIEMIISEAL
o¥ s ) LE 8e L - - ¥9 - sabreys Apoedes ansesay
gIs 158 (11} - - - - - - - $93) SINMOEL [BUNIBay
Liv 02 arL gLl it 89 b 79 g5 £EL $99] UQROALIAT)
§25'9 TLLY 9E5'C 125'2 0zg ¥85 ot gee " v29'l 0z9'l : sofirep Apeded

mowont Bugesodo oo

19G°SLE EyIZZL 06792 63595 ¥00'e9L 019'291 P Z8¥'061 222608 850vLe e e LGy =T

308°cT 92.1'8¢ 962°6Z £0}°18 SFECE LGIYE VLS 958°0% LEF S JGFgF  jOhIBUD 99]AIGS JOJEAIIONS [EJOL

{z6g) (geg) {zth) (8i1) {215 {eve) (ozo'n) (801}  uoros oxjsy o} sBeulRIp salg
0sL'y 8¥3'L 0E6'} 886°L ¥90'2 6812 L5e'T 5I8'T 958'2 FANN fetgsnpty
$58°cl £89's1 LvLel 91Z'LL ZLo'gl cer'sl 295'02 LI0'EZ Y ANrA 0L8'iz [ERstwag
$0g'0L 502'11 1181 86LZL B0L'ZL £19'sl 8Ly 20651 TLELL zes'eL [ERUapisay

rsobIeys aoiAtes JgRMLLIO)S

£5328 L06'€8 ¥65'96 28.'gel 199'0EL EC8'EEL 08g'syl 929’6l L6L'6G1 B65'G9L  IRJEUS #91A19S JEMTISEM 8101

{o0°1) {e8'l) 209 {0z8'a) s1e'n (1es'n) (ereg) {esz's)  uownusAOD analy oy Jeames salg

216'% Tl £66°L z8s's 109'} 9541 198'L 612'2 192'C 1192 BU -G
VL 82U LEY'SL vee'ls  oLZel B¥6'gl gsv'le  £90'sl SES‘BL 8e2'61 femsnpU]
vig'sc  6l9'.z  TE8'8Z  GEB'9E  LETp W22y 86S'9r  9Li'es ZeL'IS  Zig'es [ERISUILIOD)
Oze'sy § gog'iy § BEE'Sy § 8L6%9 § 6GL'LL ¢ 9T'tL § ZOS'RL § 6LI02 § 6OVeE & Le9'Rg & [eRUSpISTY

isabireys aoiates sojemogsen
rsabreys eoaaog

5002 8002 L00Z 8002 5002 0LOZ LLOZ Z10Z ZL0T PLOZ

. (spuesrolg v §)
0% INOP CIANS SuYIA
ANNIATS OZF,na.._m_n_D 20 SERYININNS JAILYEVYLNOSD
LOTHISIO ¥EAMIS NYLITOd0MI TN
ANCIUNDE ALNNOD NOSYIIISr ANV ITIASINOT ’

48



BPS'ES § O9¥0'LY § 6i¥'EY $ GEE'0L § bESP9 $ BE6EL $ 5889 $ 9Z1L'6L § 1e58%L § ceeel © SJS00 SAFENSIUIUPE pUe ad1AJas JoN

{992°52) (ge'ce)  (8/9'0g)  (2LL/2) {G/6°G2) 0L5'se) (grg’0z;  {009'ce) (sngee) (e10'%E/ 350 jo Alghooay

(19%) (Le8) (c96) (goz'p {¥L5'1) (182 {v18) (00%) (s6t) (ar)

. SOLUBA022I SNUAAIY
By  (osy've)  GLLszy 0L (Lov'we) (sel'sa) (Bi¥oe)  (ooges) . (oLl'e®)  {gogies)

318092 P3fod pezenden
1503 0 Aanoday 18S9

SE8'8L £EY 98 /G51'06 10186 6056 B¥ L0 189°201L g2.'g0} 9e6'a01 69¢°20} 5J502 SARENSIUIWIPE pUB 35195 SS015

0s9's 290°s 6'S 008'z L18'T geo's ¥69'e L06'Y ision 4 8ET°L Jaugo Iy
Ley'L yes'L ZL'L 199'% £90'Z 981z SE0Z BSL'L  ° B0L'F eB8L" . {EsodsIp sprosolg
660'7 8s0's GeZg'y grL's 489°c 660°¢ zoz's Yii's L06's erl's [2T PUB Sfeanusys
Lig'e 69%°S 622'2 gle's £29'c bet'y gLe'y B80Sy 08"y S60'Y stiogoaneo pue Bumg
¥.8's 2922 Ge0's 9zZ6'e G/9'6 1¥9'8 ¥50°0F 08011 998°01 980'6 sedal pue sotBUSJUIEY
869'C evs'z I6L'T gzl'e 08L'2 £927 ¥29'2 e ' - TEeE'L SSOIAITS [RUOISSAI
§29'9 GFLL i61'8 20L'8 TrL's 180°6 Bp0's 2L5'8 0668 LgL'g sayddns piiz sjeusien
6L1'01 ] Sepral 9:6'0L 62621 8r8'0l BLBLL 258'¢L S56'%L 128z £95'7) sanmn
BY6'0r $ L8 $ 6.04F $ 18’6y $ vSE'BY $ S¥E'TS.$ BSE'9S $ 010'SS § BE0'SS § o5e'ss § . Joge]
TSJS00 GAELSIUNUPE pUe aoIMag
5002 00T £00% 2002 B00Z o0Lo0¢ Loz FANrA o Hord Loz -
{spuesmons up g) :
02 ANNT JIANT SHYZA

S1300 IALLYHISININGY ONY Z0IANAS 40 STRFYINNNS SALLVEYLNGD
. LIRMLSIQ HIMIS NYLTOSOU LS
) ANONINTYM "ALNNOD NOSHIJLAr ANY ITIASINOT

49



9S6'VEI' L $ PELEELL $ 9SE'PRS | § ZIR'6BA L $ JEL91BL S ZIDE/R'L S LeleoDe & eFSo0le S S90°06L'2 $ 208'Di2'C

$  SOGIIoB} 19j0 PUER SOUI| JUeld 3ou [ZoL

S0L°Z6C L9L1IE 027'€61 SE9'SEl HLLZ31 YELOFL 058ele 05208 9Lg'1ZEe /SIEgr Ssalbold Ul UoRanGSU0D ()0 L
152 LBE | £96'1E5 + 9E1'1IGT LLLESY L 920'%E9'L BL2LELTY LE6'6eL | 8BL'GELT E¥Z2 81E'L SCE 081 jau - spafoad papejdarod Jejo L
(Feo’ 2% {66L°22G) (C758.8) {962'829) {08e'089) (265 +eL) ger'sel) (50Z'Ges) (B61'+88] (o) uogeiszidap paIRjAUNGOE $507]
YR 29L'6P0C 6/L6¥1L'2 £iv'leee A 0EV' LV e ¥Se'gav'e 0¥’ 0952 SYFZ0LT 192°¢ELE Sjaoload pReydwdd fe3o |
5T.'961 Zge‘tle 089022 b RN avLE s ¥ea'see 151082 169'28T Qog'Loe s pazenden
6¥L'9g £19'gs 925'2¢ ZL8'SL GIBYL ove'es £26°L. 830°22 Z83'c8 SRE'S8 Jauge pue juswudmbe ‘Ksunjoely
s6e'L 0Lp'L eLe'L £e8'2 1282 128'L lE0's 1809 1208 808 SSMNPE) soueUSIUERY
gee'sy re'sy L¥e'sy 195'st L9s'sy Log'sy 8L0'gy 290'er AR 4 Zre'st SORIOE) SANBNSIURLPY
63°LS 20¥'sS 22808 066'9¢ Loc'eg £r9'02 AN £20'CL " £05°68 618'96 suonels 1 pue Burdwing
Z8Z'308 BE0°LEE S¥L'geE 669'06€ 8LL'ODY LEY' L2h S¥Eed BEL'LEY LIS 668'8iy soRI0e] sBeureIp Jajamunn)g
IvL'G8e L166'3SLY ponth 556'gS¥ 2€2'65F L1280, 0BL'LLY 92ZTBLF  86B'ELY 682681 SNMOB) WIUGESL JTRMIISEAN
BYE'BLE ¢ 1Z5GL6 86.'C96 698'220'L ¢ ZYL'ZYO'L $ ZE9WEL'L $ LEVESLN $ S8UBLLL § Jovcozl & 08L'vLZL $ Sau] Jamag
' ’ soafoid pajerdwon
SO0 900z L002 200z B00T 0LGT LLGZ Z10T 2102 ¥IOZ
(sptresnow; uy £}
0B 3NN 33aN3 Suvy3L

SOV WIHLO ONY SINT 'LNY1d 40 STINOSHOS ZALLYHYAINGD

LIRILSIO MIMIS NYLMTOL0H 1IN
JOONLNEDY "ALNNSS NOSHISHSr ANy ITIASINGT

o



usuptedsq Buusembus QSN 99MoS
ZLOZ Amr Ut pajeuitie 9 LM UMY LpRMOUSL £IS2U0 THET
JdLA AIUnoD 1sop a0l SB umowy Apsuuos

V6L e 99.LL

VILOVE  vov §85 02 ZELB1lE WoySAS Jetiges) (50 L
sued sBepoed ngLodojonsp ISNOUBA SOZEL IS0 /9LY - 1z1 or'y - £ 9z wOLOM WS g1
loyy pues :Arepel  LOOT ¥85'L 1 €78 022'2 26 Iz &9 310 §,pA0[S
Jayy pues tUeisl GEBL vigor - ¥eT OrLoL gL 2 gz 3oa10) Jepen)
Joqy pues ARl D6L 596°7 g 818 1L o g 0’9 yaa10 AH
Apuodag  9gEl 6¥L'9 1 168 ¥ra's oy =¥ od wmojIosIagap
Aepucrag  ggel goe'se ¥Z 9z8'e 9st'19 oSy £Te o'ge »BUUND ¥ Yereq
"Z/GL 1 poppR AlRpUCOSS 8561 BLO'SEL QL v19%1 ge6'z8l  00ZL 626 ooz URLMC SLO
5850614 JUsLRERL] Ry [E0L  [elshipU] [eoiommoy [ejuspised ., ODi asn asn Tiejd
JEDL aseg Jewolsns fpedes mory  Mosedes .

emuang Ateg Bay  ubBiseq

(spuesnowr u £)

0E SN O2aNT SYvEA

ALSYIYD LNV 1d INSINLVTHUL S LYMELLS YA

LOMLSIa HIATS NY.LITOdoy3n

AAOMINSY *ALNNOD NOSYI-AT! aNY ITIASINGT

51



SUEMOEIY / [MoH d

Jopinard 21ed uieeH d

Justtuoaob 2sodind rEleuD o
JopiAeud 0ITI YIESH N

SADATIS PUT SOTES QDURINSY] IToH J
Bupmazmues sipds papsia d
Jopiraud oaasas podd d

050 JUOWIUEHSID pUT Biues o
Supud repeds eugissayd oprIlL 4
ooy juetaaidun sty o
STIA0E Anoos 4

TURIMESOS TOAZOE HOIND d

LopEanpe AIEpLODGS put TWwpd
uofEInps Alepuoses pu Koy ©
uoRedtpo Arpugaes put Twid ©
uopconpe ATEpucIes pue Aelild ©
SORIon) QD WY pue EdsoH N
Jopiaeid Somaes UIICaY pue |oidseH d
Amn 2520l 2 589 d

senoE] "o ooy noey-fuo g
Japivard eoars paog o

juaurueanh osodind mieten o
SONAIIS [0S JEUCKToNpa 'cROBioY N
usfingiisp e o

uaunuesot asodind foroteg o
SONIoE} 2169 YCTY pUT (EdeoH N
Jolimay Adoolg d

SORNIoE} 0J23 Yipoy put eydsoH. N
Wounuionos AUnoDMI0 9

Uanenpo JousH 9

SupmoEmume esuepddy &
Burgoghiets opuaA J

sofiifet) o yeey pun [midsol N
SOWH/ROURINSU| yIEa dievs) o
LIORE0npo ATplasss pur Aeuid 9
uoingstp pue pedsien obmo My J

S5y

M TUASINGT J0 130 SCTUISRG tomnog

Uofeiteblo [EURWILEeA05=0  UopEZehe Ward-oRou=y  UspeIebIo Jaidiojed

i BrLELL TE LY BP Lk A0S L TGF ek BLEGLL ZRREEL
¥N  0S0'L 98 03 JepRUYSS MY
N P50 52 U] oSy
FAL S R <A )1~ 3N 0z 828t @ 8Ee L LeYZ 5L sol'e vL ZER'L 07  8o¥'lL. £ TLEY gz 5807 e STSURD ey] o NERmg “sT
65L'L g8 2811 A& 00b'k B8 0Lk or 8Ll se /Al o 2Tt % STl o= AN %€ 62} |23 STARYS STUROD) UDADg
289'L e s5' R 6z 182’ le  ase'l 62 92V 9 05k g WL ¥ ool £ BGEML [~ U WPy
520" B2 ez’ €8 AlE'L ¥e 952 SE L8’k £ OFE) 8 8L ve  88ML e HFEl e 95T € “dioD vEuLo-umag
56L' gL E2LT 8L  BLZT L. EYZT 2L 80T 6L 5L Lz ore'l £ Bsgl @ sl £ 0l 2.3 (uooy Aouriof) Dup spoerg TWnA
aLs'L for 8 6L SES'L 6% 858l e 1591 = ovsl 9z Wi e el [=1 A =150 [=r A ol B2 (sicens ftoulag) N1 wRYNoS ooysIsioH
£E9'L £z Wl 1z 689 1z 0ss'l oz o'l £ DOS' Z 198 Iz og¥'l vZ 95l ¥z Zev'l 82 fundures Bumuty cloysang
T BU BREL LZ cEv'l &z 20} 380 5,0M07
051 L se 0§l (R 7= 1A R - - 1 17 ah (e A Vi b4 ] YSN Sesjues AUnsaS sEhoeg
. L6 uN o erbt SE  £o8'lk 52, TBUORRLIILY SLYef Bdt
505°% Yz 885’k 22 D08 £ 16K 2 BOFL 1z s5E'} 0E  %9g't- BT  8bE'L LA -y 0E  E0E} vz “th1og) jostas Nf AUReD D Jaens
o'l 15 0¥} 82 B¥¥'L * 8T Big'L S 998 5g 005t - & 689t 1z o6s'l 6. oYl e st £z 5100425 iGN MUNGD WEUPlO
U BU  g2o'L 1z ged'l 4 S[OOLIS ofqRd AuneD Aima
e/ B0 OF9'L 0z kgt 12 SJoouos e pRard - Auedy MaN
o65'l Yo Wue't € 8L  68L% Bl 202 74 JaD [Eoipal YA Xox Aalgqey
'L LT lee't 5¢ 50K 0e eue'tl g gee'l B Yl BT Ors'l ¥ Tia'l 0z LWL Bl BSL1 6l S90MOg UIEIH Y (s [eUctiop pAold
Z06'L 0T 95t &) 9/6" 6l 990 (TR B4 e BT gk (NC3 Apounop) ABraug 1y pue 221
Zre'T oL GYET 9L €80t g} BI0T Bl  ESLT 8L e 9l /627 Bl ¥sTT 5 DELT FAR P (U] Jooug A, ARie)) SIEUISH DRIpUD]
uN 0822 gl Burng PysrseD 48
We'T gl §28'%2 Bl ZZ8ZT KL E5R'T £l §86'C Sl si5't £} §S8'r £l 2.9 AN o1y 4 §. 2522 :78 JUBULIDADS [0 "5
0892 gL JEVZ 1 >r AR R B 4 5} EPET PAS 4 Oy A T 4 [ £l SHEZ ¥l 0822 ¥l O[IASTIZT JO DEEITIPHANY DCUTED UCIoy
206'2 v v ¥l 858T 51 189'7 ¥l HeT L 1BE°) gl eog't YL T B BOSZ gL ovET £l SIS E1S0d 8
56y 0L oOLY Ll ge5Y L. s8Y'y |4 0L 19EY 0L BEYY 5 et DL 18LY¥ L ZrsY Zl AU JO IEeMUOWILLIDD)
6LL'E AT -2 ZL  DESE ZL  Ge0'R ZL  soe's L BEET "I} @SR L BlZY S5 b BEg's L WolsAS anspreaH jspdeg
BU B ZSLS o AR o ok Aueduion JeBory oyt
Sovr'e L l06'S L BZZS 9 e0Z'g & oog'w §  zass 9 6l S geR'S L engg [ R e:2 6 IH ysior Apottiof) ouf yriEeH eu Ax¥omuoy
£68'g G EB6S g ees's B BEY'S g L8 L s8l'§ L 8oLs L 68g'e 3 e85 6 eu's 8  OWWAADD o AUNOD UtKeler-ojASInG
9se's g bus's 8 g9l L 998% L §e1'e 9 Z5e's g okLs g B2 9 al'e £ 19L's L - DIASIET Jo Aoy
00o's 6 00O gL oao's ¢65  ooC's 6 ooy 1L 0oLy LL  gBG'S ol poo'§ 65 ooo'm ] DEZ'Y 9 Ayedute?) oinoold [wiotaD
zi8'3 € gkig £ oES'L S  &za% 95 tp's 8 ls2'g [~ 11 959'8 s zZie's B /888 g Auedizog ooy prot
sIE'e ¥ oAl ¥ oeez ¥ BIEL ¥ Zris ¥ BEe'm v s LA - -] ¥ 909's el b (\preH JUEry Alounof) 21cagRoH uoioN
0S8's 9 es¥'s § &LUB £ 585 £ 950°0L € 00V £ Lol e D000LL  ®  SEElb ] 1e'TL € “ou "BusumH
SETEL T WBZel € EBSEL 2 ZLEEL Z  SZE'El T ¥l Z obEEL T g9eEwl € g9zl Z  9ey  Z FI00UDS MM AN “Aunog uosmyap
£rS°LL 1L gse'gl [ 73:X7A L Dagoz L BT L. SEi'DE L BaEoZ [ A N4 L Ip00T | es'oT 1 ) “au| 'oAAIS [T PEYUN
o CRRY] Ty e Suey P ooy Tty TEg YOGY
5002 folelerd 2002 200 . 8002 ooz Lie FA% T gz Yoz

THOW MO STIATTING 000'L 40 SUZAQTIND

YNYDIOMUNDIETIASINGT ¥2LY=HD
1DR1SIQ ¥IMIS NYLMOLoMI=N

AADMLNEA "ALNNCD NOSHIHST ONY TTIASINGT

By



Aporguan mﬁ.cohtog
S{IASIMOT JO IS SSIUISNY 1BN0g

0e5's8s NFAY ‘eliasineT (ySiW) ustwhojdurd fzioL 080°208 NFA! ‘aliasineT (S juatuAdidwz rejo )

%LLEL -118'08 %SLGL 2196 [e0L
%580 0L gee'y Apmqusy 10 UiEeMUoWIos . %S80 a Tzele Auedwien Jebony syl
%G8°0 &  000% Auedwog cijparg [Risuen %E6"0 6 169°¢ JUSLILISACS) OB AUN0D) UOSIayar-a|IASInOT
%680 2 geeg's SMIASIMOT Jo AYstaAn %650 8 0009 Auedwian SLI9S [2laUsD
%260 L sov's (dsoH usmar Auauwcy) Su| WiesH aug Apmuay %20} L hww”m afiiasmoT Jo Ausiaamn
%00 g 0S8'G DUl "euRLNY %0¥ 1 8 2le'e Auzdwog Jo101y piog
%LO"L § 2687 WUSURUBAOS} 0RAIY AUNOD UOSIYSr~HinsF0T %av°) S £6g'e (dso yswwar Auswual) aut yiesr: auQ Apnusy|
%9} 4 ges'e (WresH Juerry Apsunof) asgsuizey uouoN %651 L4 g3g's (tareal ey Arsursog) Emos_mm._._ UoUen
%ES} £ 768 ¢ Auedwiod Jojop prog %53} g SeZ'LL | ou| ‘euewmny
%8ZT Z  seT'el sjooyag oNqnd A ‘Aunog uosiayger %SE'E i B9Z'¥1 SI00YDS JNNA AY ‘ALnen uoslapep
%O0'E [ AR U] '20IneS [E2rRd penun %08 L vz U] 'SIINIRG [SONBd PRIUN

WSWACIES WUEy Seshojdu JaAo|diug JVENES ] qugy  sasdoidwg Jafodurg

[€0L jo s002 - [210l Jo 102
abejuasiad afixusored

09V SUVEA ANIN GNY YYIA INSHNND
SHIAOTINI TYLIONINC ALNNOD NOSHIZaETIASING T
LIELSI Y3aM3s NYLoL0uLam
AONINTH 'ALNMOD NOSYIH=3r GNY ITIASINOT

f~Ls}



£92'¢
(1) 74
geee
0oz'e
2028
81'e
o0z's
egL'e
660t
ge0's

T NETTE T
Jo sep

I A
PEE'BEE
951'5eT
0ve'0sT
0ss'gze
LL2'9Te
osy'oez
$59YZZ
869'2eT
665'022
e )

aMteg
asiio#

909
6¥9
8929
.8g9
852)
£€9
529
19
[A2:]
409

SFeRodwg
GSiN o ¢

{noBeaermman) alsam SISAELTY OICUODT JO NBaINg 1904N0g
(naB-fy AoniuadaoIopoM MMM SIISORAN AOMUSY S0I0PUORA 92IN0S
{robsnsuan) Aeamg snsuan g7 woaneg

%89 A WiN YN YN elelegii: g

%ES YiN YN 08695, 009182}
%r'g %6Y°'S 260'265°28 §29'06.L pse'egl’h
%6°6 %cE’G - reYeLLe TIE'9VL 058248l
%086 %¥6'S LL6'1Z6'62 ¥2e'erL sev'esl'l
%0¥ 0L %ZeY 103461'62 S0.'98L 062'80#'1L
%0%'9 8LV 155'961°08 ¥EL'0EL 080'er¥l
%048 %S5y 09e'65'62  O¥0'ges §8z'sve’l
%0.L°S . %yl £o¥'p5.'92 8¥L'SLL S20'ege’l
¢

9009 VGl Sre'ele'9z $ gLo'oLs 0s¢'s.2)
21ey EGRTH] EDEAHT] UQnendog geq
juswifodwaun feuostag euosiag {E10]

. jo abejuaniag

{cpmsnowy v 43
02 INMF J3ANZ SYVA
NOLLYINHOANI JHdYHOOINEA *0STN ANY 1830 ONIANYISLNO 20 CLLYN
LOMLSIT ¥aMIs NYLTOdoMLTN

AMONINTD 'ALNNOD NOSHI=ZJ=r ONW ITIASINOT

ove'oEe
ove'oze
ove'oeZ
ove'eze

083°Z5F

SIJ0N
uopedmRuy
puog

§22'845°)
092'505'1
015'295' L
0L5'919°L
§8L'Gze’L
062'80%'1
080'¥¥'L
ggg'ste’l
20'coe’ |

05€'8.Z'}

puog

anuaADY

$

102
£10z
zioz
LL0T

0102
6002
8002
£00Z
8002

s00e

IETL
[B3SIH

BA



000'G0B'SE 4 1BNUIKSY JSIBMLLICIS GO, A [EIOL DO0°'LSF'8Y $ 19NUBATY JSIRMULOLS ], A [E30L
%018 ve'es0z  $ 1301 %PE'L 2a8r'are’e $ FE0.L
. g Wy ASPay B0 JapmoT ol
%L '901 $ D97 B SBD SflAsSNeT %YE0 ¥8Z'G9l $
% ,M...Wm www_wm I ¢ -dion) ulaUINOS YIOHON %520 c0t+'g9lL % 228004y 18AS preoqeag 6
q”&..o 892'1.21 $ preog I S1BIS AN %.E°0 Z95'6.L1 $ sndue) deuyeg jio M 2
%8y 0 o1 A § $ "0 MOI) Jlatiuer] %10 865°002 $ wdlisiaUed paqurt [eigsnpul 117 L
%850 ¥er'erl $ SUMOC] MU2INUD %LY0 6.9'92¢ $ sumMadq iumnyD 9
%LLD L¥E'E8lL $ SMASINGT JO AYSIaAL %LE0 S.16'8¥C $ pizog fed =g AM g
%260 $5E'8ET $ "ONpg 10 “pg "o UosIayar %280 gEZ'l68 $ Aueduiog Jojopy piod ¥
%9670 Lul'ere $ Auediuo) Jojoly prog %E0°} $60'86Y $ uoleanpg jo precq o) e )
%0€" L $08'9eE % S0TAIRS [adUB ] papuf) %921 0s2'LLe $ FANMOG [20sBd PARUN z
%R8} 0L0*L8¥ $ Ruowgmy podiny [euciBay %8LT BEF'ZSLL $ Aoy Hoding feuoBay 1
anusnay pelid JUIEN t2lUoisny) INUINIY paig SLLEN JaWSTD NUEY
JalemuLols JERAMULOIS 50, Ad Jajemunos JSIEMULINS 1, Ad
E10] Wa2lad [Ej01 jusdlad .
c00'es9'28 $ W@nuaAaY JAIRMAlSEAA 50, Ad [B0L 000'665°C9)  § 1BNU2ATY JTEMAISEAN T, AL [E10)1,
“T%89"EL 0£6°066 L1 8 leloL %RECE 062'629°¢L $ [e301
%0.L°0 LIS'E19 $ SEBH 7§ WIYoY %2270 198" $ oUl SATIDPY MAS oL
%EL0 ZOL'1ES $ o) uBlICd umalg %080 9EL'ves $ OLI9[T fEleuss) 6
%180 686'60L 3 Auedutog B yims %850 130°256 $ dnols susipaiby) Bdoung 8
%880 opE'LLL $ *INpg 40 “pe "oQ uosiaysr %490 Z09'30L°L $ SIS Z
%66°0 69.°/98 $ Ny Buisncy ansiy no’ %8L0 166261 $ Auowgmy Bulsnon ane SIASTOT 9
ShLO'L 288°.¢€6 $ "0 JOIO piod %.L8'0 gEY'etr'L $ ‘00 Jajoly ploo g
" %05} SBLPLE'L $ [BUIA AXO %680 BZY'6LYL $ SayDIMsIC IIH ushesy ¥
%09°) Si'zor'L $ pood e3do %10 BEL'1L9" § Aueduso?) § Pms £
%9TT 284°966°L $ odng 13 %0T L ZB6'266'L $ Aa[psiq soul L Ares, Zz
%EL'e BES'ERL'E $ sajbojoutoa] uelcid %S’ SIE'EOV'E $ s [EUSIEIN POOURADY [0ZUGNT 1
DAUAIY Pafig - SleN JawolsnD - 2QNUDADY JAETIRS] DUWEN JIWOISND Hued
ISleMESEA JSEMIISEAN SO, AL JFEmalse JHEMTISEAN Tl AL
{&0 L Juaatad [0 Juastad

0DV SHYEA ININ GNV HYEA INSHNND
SUIWOLSND WALYMINHOLS ANV HRLYMILSYM 08 dOL
LO1A1SIQ HEMSS NYITOS0M L3N
AHQNLNEY "ALNNOD NOSHIISTr ANY TTUASINGT

55



MSD

Metropolitan Sewer District

Providing Exceptional Wastewater,
Drainage and Flood Protection Services
Jfor Our Community

700 West Liberty Street
Louisville, KY 40203-1911

24/7 Customer Relations
502-587-0603

LouisvilleMSD.org

email:
CustomerRelations@LouisvilleMSD.org
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